

Governing the Exclusive Economic Zone: The Ocean Commons, Cumulative Impacts and Potential Strategies for Improved Governance

Prepared by Katherine Andrews

With funding from the sponsors of the Ian Axford (New Zealand) Fellowships in Public Policy

July 2008

Established by the New Zealand government in 1995 to facilitate public policy dialogue between New Zealand and the United States of America

Level 8, 120 Featherston Street PO Box 3465 Wellington 6140 New Zealand

Telephone +64 4 472 2065 Facsimile +64 4 499 5364 E-mail info@fulbright.org.nz www.fulbright.org.nz

 $\land \land \land \land \land /$

© Katherine Andrews 2008 Published by Fulbright New Zealand, July 2008

The opinions and views expressed in this paper are the personal views of the author and do not represent in whole or part the opinions of Fulbright New Zealand or any New Zealand government agency.

ISBN 978-0-9582858-6-5 (print) ISBN 978-0-9582858-7-2 (PDF)

Ian Axford (New Zealand) Fellowships in Public Policy

Ian Axford (New Zealand) Fellowships in Public Policy were named in honour of Sir Ian Axford, an eminent New Zealand astrophysicist and space scientist who is patron of the fellowship programme.

Since his education in New Zealand and England, Sir Ian has held Professorships at Cornell University and the University of California, and was Vice-Chancellor of Victoria University of Wellington for three years. For many years, Sir Ian was director of the Max Planck Institute for Aeronomy in Germany, where he was involved in the planning of several space missions, including those of the Voyager planetary explorers, the Giotto space probe and the Ulysses galaxy explorer.

Sir Ian is recognised as one of the great thinkers and communicators in the world of space science, and is a highly respected and influential administrator. A recipient of numerous science awards, he was knighted and named New Zealander of the Year in 1995.

Ian Axford (New Zealand) Fellowships in Public Policy have three goals:

- To reinforce United States/New Zealand links by enabling fellows of high intellectual ability and leadership potential to gain experience and build contacts internationally.
- To increase fellows' ability to bring about changes and improvements in their fields of expertise by the cross-fertilisation of ideas and experience.
- To build a network of policy experts on both sides of the Pacific that will facilitate international policy exchange and collaboration beyond the fellowship experience.

Fellows are based at a host institution and carefully partnered with a leading specialist who will act as a mentor. In addition, fellows spend a substantial part of their time in contact with relevant organisations outside their host institutions, to gain practical experience in their fields.

The fellowships are awarded to professionals active in the business, public or nonprofit sectors. A binational selection committee looks for fellows who show potential as leaders and opinion formers in their chosen fields. Fellows are selected also for their ability to put the experience and professional expertise gained from their fellowship into effective use. We acknowledge and thank the following government and corporate sponsors that support the Ian Axford (New Zealand) Fellowships in Public Policy programme:

- Department of Building and Housing
- Department of Corrections
- Department of Internal Affairs
- Department of Labour
- Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet
- Mighty River Power
- Ministry for Culture and Heritage
- Ministry for the Environment
- Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry
- Ministry of Economic Development
- Ministry of Education
- Ministry of Fisheries
- Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade
- Ministry of Health
- Ministry of Justice
- Ministry of Research, Science and Technology
- Ministry of Social Development
- New Zealand Customs Service
- New Zealand Police
- State Services Commission
- Te Puni Kōkiri (Ministry of Māori Development)
- The Treasury

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the many people who helped to make my experience in New Zealand fun and rewarding. First, I would like to thank my host ministry, the Ministry for the Environment (MfE), and my mentors there, Ginny McLean and Brigit Stephenson. Ginny and Brigit graciously gave me time out of their very busy schedules to ensure I had everything I needed for my project. I would also like to thank the members of the Natural Resources Policy Team who worked on EEZ and related issues: Suzanne Doig, Dan Brown, Nicky Blackman, Mel Rae, and Connie Nisbet. They were welcoming, helpful, and kind.

I want to especially thank my academic mentor Cath Wallace of Victoria University of Wellington. Cath went out of her way when I first arrived to help get me settled and plugged into the ocean public policy community. She was particularly helpful in providing valuable information about New Zealand government and the political context of ocean issues. My thanks also go to Joanna Mossup at the Victoria Law School for her kindness and help.

I would also like to thank all of the people who took time out of there busy schedules to meet with me for my report. They are too numerous to mention individually but their help for me to understand the context of ocean management in New Zealand was critical.

My heartfelt thanks to Mele Wendt and the rest of the Fulbright team: Rae Holdsworth, Andy Mitchell, Keri Vanka, Val Leach, and Kara Wood. They all provided wonderful support and assistance.

I would like to thank my fellow Ian Axford Fellows, Penny Bishop, Brenda Bushouse, Patti Grogan, and their families for their camaraderie and friendship. I can't imagine a kinder, more interesting group of people with whom to share this experience.

This report is dedicated to all of the Board members of the Coastal States Organization: the state and territorial coastal and ocean managers. These dedicated people work incredibly hard under challenging circumstances to balance the protection of marine resources with sustainable use. They are a constant source of inspiration. With such committed, talented people, as Brian Baird, Kathleen Leyden, Ted Diers, Philip Hinesley, and many others, I have great hope for the future.

And last but far from least, I owe a very special thank you to David Thulman for encouraging me to pursue this Fellowship even though it involved significant sacrifice on his part. Thanks.

Katherine Andrews Wellington, July 2008

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

From the time of the Roman Empire, the oceans were considered common to all. The doctrine of "freedom of the seas" prevailed, and nations' seaward jurisdictions were limited to three nautical miles. In the middle of the 20th century, this three-mile limit began to erode. After years of negotiations, nations were granted "sovereign rights" to Exclusive Economic Zones (EEZ) out to 200 nautical miles when the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea came into effect in 1994. Nations' rights and responsibilities to govern their EEZs are therefore a relatively new phenomenon. Technological advances have allowed for increased use of EEZ resources so the need to improve their governance has become more than a theoretical exercise. To address these shortcomings, the New Zealand government is proposing legislation to improve the management regime in the EEZ to regulate environmental impacts and address cumulative effects.

Traditional regulatory approaches to addressing cumulative effects have been in use for decades in many countries around the world, including the United States and New Zealand. These efforts have had mixed success because cumulative effects assessments are challenging to perform. The EEZ's vast scale and the relative lack of data and knowledge make this approach difficult. Existing models must therefore be approached with some caution.

Even though countries now hold sovereign rights in the EEZ, the zone remains a commons, i.e. a property with open access. Governance of commons comes with a unique set of challenges. Considering the size, dynamic nature, and unpredictability of the EEZ, it is particularly difficult to design a governance regime. There are three mechanisms generally used for overcoming the challenges of governing the commons: the government mechanism, the market mechanism, and co-management, which entails the government and the community managing the resources together in some way.

Government Mechanisms

Potential strategies of government mechanisms include improved coordination of government activities and area-based governance. To improve coordination, New Zealand could create a whole-of-government effort or give one government agency (i.e. an "overlord" ministry) authority over EEZ-related activities of other government agencies. This would improve integration of government activities, but would lack meaningful stakeholder involvement, not allow for tradeoffs between the different sectors, and could increase bureaucracy without concomitant benefits.

For area-based strategies, the government could undertake marine spatial planning or implement an ocean zoning regime without property interests. Marine spatial planning would be a proactive way of achieving a comprehensive view of uses and reducing conflicts, but would not allow for tradeoffs between sectors, and would have no legal force, which could undermine its effectiveness. Ocean zoning allows for a rational allocation of marine space into dominant use zones and multiple use zones. Ocean zoning has numerous advantages: it improves integration of activities, accounts for non-use values, enables tradeoffs, and includes a participatory process for stakeholders. However, zoning does not address issues that defy spatial restraint (e.g. invasive species) and would have high implementation costs.

Market Mechanisms

The most prevalent market-based strategy in the environmental arena is tradable environmental allowances. However, this is probably not a viable option for the EEZ because of the number of different types of resources subject to extraction. Another market-based strategy is ocean zoning with the assignment of property rights in the zones. Ocean zoning with property rights would not entail government alienation of the EEZ; it would entail the government granting individuals, sectors, or groups a long-term property right to zones in the oceans for them to develop, conserve, or sublease as they saw fit. All activities would still be subject to regulation. The advantages of this approach include adaptability, maximisation of economic value, and increased innovation. Disadvantages include failure to account for non-use values, lack of a comprehensive view of what New Zealand wants its EEZ to be used for, high initial implementation costs, and a potential abrogation of the government's trust responsibility in the EEZ.

Co-management

Co-management is a sharing of responsibilities, rights and duties between the government and the stakeholders. It is a strategy that exists along a continuum from government simply seeking extensive community consultation to government ceding decision-making. The success of co-management is dependent on numerous factors such as moderate rates of change, strong community ties, and the ability to exclude outsiders at relatively low cost. Co-management has a number of advantages, including integrated management, a comprehensive view, reduction of conflicts, adaptability, and an inclusive process. Its drawbacks are that co-management regimes may avoid the tough decisions and influential leaders are a necessary component. While it is a potentially strong strategy, the lack of a local community means co-management is probably not a viable strategy for the EEZ.

Conclusion

Governing a commons as large as New Zealand's EEZ is complicated but necessary. The strategies discussed in this report are not mutually exclusive, and a mix of them will probably be most effective in improving governance of the marine commons over the long-term. That said, it seems likely that EEZ governance in the future will need to have a strong spatial component, such as marine spatial planning or ocean zoning without property interests. A spatial component to governance does not obviate the need for regulation of activities, but it can help to allocate space in a rational way so all societal needs and values can be taken into account.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii			
EXI	ECUTIVE SUMMARY	v	
INTRODUCTION			
1	EEZ GOVERNANCE IN NEW ZEALAND AND UNITED STATES	3	
	A Very Brief History of Exclusive Economic Zones	3	
	Similarities between United States and New Zealand	6	
	New Zealand's efforts to improve EEZ governance	7	
	Cumulative Effects and Governance Structure	9	
2	CHALLENGES TO GOVERNING THE EEZ COMMONS		
	Early Commons Literature	13	
	Complexities of Governing the Commons	14	
	Characteristics of the EEZ that Affect Governance	15	
	Governance Mechanisms	17	
	Government Mechanisms	17	
	Market Mechanisms	18	
	Co-Management	19	
3	POTENTIAL STRATEGIES FOR IMPROVING GOVERNANCE OF NEW ZEALAND'S EEZ	21	
	A Word about Maori Rights in EEZ Resources	21	
	Timing of Governance Reform	21	
	Traditional Regulatory Approach to Addressing Cumulative Effects	22	
	Examples from the United States and New Zealand		
	United States' National Environmental Policy Act	23	
	New Zealand's Resource Management Act		
	Traditional Regulatory Approach to Assessing Cumulative Effects in the EEZ	24	
	Advantages		
	Disadvantages	26	
	Government Mechanisms for Improved Governance	27	
	Coordination of Government Activities	27	

Whole-of-Government Approach	28
i. Advantages	29
ii. Disadvantages	29
'Overlord' Ministry	30
i. Advantages	30
ii. Disadvantages	30
Area-based Governance Strategies	31
Marine Spatial Planning	32
i. Are the Conditions Ripe?	32
ii. How Would Marine Spatial Planning Work?	33
iii. Advantages	33
iv. Disadvantages	34
Ocean Zoning Without Property Interests	35
i. General Types of Zoning	36
ii. Advantages	37
iii. Disadvantages	38
Market Mechanisms for Improved Governance	39
Tradable Environmental Allowances	40
Ocean Zoning with Property Interests	41
How Would Zoning with Property Interests Work?	41
Advantages	43
Disadvantages	44
Co-Management Mechanism for Improved Governance	45
New Zealand Example of Co-management	45
Relevant Factors	46
Can the resources be monitored?	46
Are the rates of change (community, technology, economic conditions) moderate?	47
Does the community have dense social networks?	47
Can outsiders be excluded at relatively low cost?	48
Do users support monitoring and enforcement?	48

BIBL	LIOGRAPHY	53
4	CONCLUSION	51
	Disadvantages	50
	Advantages	49

INTRODUCTION

It has become apparent around the world that national governance regimes for marine resources are inadequate to protect biodiversity or to thoughtfully decide between conflicting uses – a quintessential example of struggling to govern the commons.¹ As uses of marine resources and ocean space continue to increase, the need to improve (and possibly overhaul) governance regimes has become more pressing.² This need for improved governance includes nations' Exclusive Economic Zones (EEZ), which extend from 12 to 200 nautical miles offshore. Countries' control over EEZ resources is relatively new, and most are just now starting to grapple with their governance rights and responsibilities over these often enormous areas of the sea. Policy-makers have recognised that current laws and regulatory schemes are insufficient to address many of the current and emerging uses because the existing laws (passed decades ago) did not anticipate the EEZ's geographic scope or the technologies that have now enabled further activity on the EEZ, such as offshore aquaculture, deep seabed mining, and energy generation.

To proactively address its shortcomings in EEZ management, the New Zealand government is currently working to improve regulation of the natural resources of the EEZ through new legislation. The New Zealand Ministry for the Environment has been charged with advancing this work to achieve two broad goals: filling regulatory gaps to address environmental effects, and addressing cumulative impacts. Proposed legislation is being prepared to accomplish these goals. This report will investigate the traditional regulatory approach to addressing cumulative impacts and then will identify and analyse future potential strategies that could enable a more comprehensive and integrated approach to EEZ governance.

The future management regime will need to take into account the impacts of all the various sectors. In other words, management must become more integrated. This is difficult because the various sectors are managed by diverse government agencies, each of which operates under different laws. This traditional sectoral approach can be an impediment to integrated management but strategies do exist to overcome the piecemeal approach.

The nature and characteristics of the ocean commons must be understood before potential governance strategies can be identified because these characteristics will affect the effectiveness of governance regimes.

The first chapter of this report provides a brief history of the emergence of EEZs, followed by an overview of the current state of oceans governance in the United States and New Zealand. They share many of the same challenges and have similar management regimes. The history and background of New Zealand's efforts to improve management of the EEZ is outlined, and the general challenges and shortcomings of the traditional regulatory approach to assessing cumulative effects on the environment are discussed.

¹ Governance in this context is the institutions, rules, and agreements (formal or informal) that a group of people use to govern themselves. Governance can, but does not have to, include government.

² See e.g., Costanza (1998)

Chapter two addresses the unique governance issues of the commons. The characteristics and nature of marine commons are identified, and how those characteristics make governance especially challenging is explained. This chapter then identifies ways in which commons governance can be facilitated to overcome those challenges. Governance strategies can be analysed based on which sector is the primary driver of the governance: the government, the private market, or shared governance between government and stakeholders, usually referred to as comanagement.

Chapter three investigates the traditional regulatory approach to assessing cumulative effects in the EEZ, and discusses the challenges, advantages and disadvantages of this approach. The chapter then identifies other potential governance strategies that New Zealand may wish to consider in the future to improve governance of the EEZ. Potential strategies are offered and analysed pursuant to which of the three governance mechanisms identified in Chapter two would be the primary driver of the strategy.

1 EEZ GOVERNANCE IN NEW ZEALAND AND UNITED STATES

Governance and policy are never static but a continuum of change. Future modifications and transformations are determined by what has been decided in the past. In the 1980s governance of the oceans experienced a literal and figurative sea change, with the creation of Exclusive Economic Zones (EEZ) through the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea III (UNCLOS III). Coastal nations around the world continue to grapple with the ramifications of this treaty.

To understand the current issues surrounding EEZ governance, we must first understand the changes brought about by UNCLOS III. This section also explores recent efforts in the United States and New Zealand to improve ocean governance, particiularly the New Zealand decision to fill gaps in the regulatory regime of the EEZ through regulating environmental effects of activities and addressing cumulative effects. This section concludes with a general discussion about the traditional regulatory approach to addressing cumulative effects, and the governance issues that strategy will and will not address.

A Very Brief History of Exclusive Economic Zones

As early as the second century, Marcianus, a Roman jurist, declared that the sea was common to all.³ This principle controlled oceans governance for centuries until the growth of trade resulted in conflicting claims between nation states over the sea and its resources in the 16th and early 17th centuries. This led to a debate between the contradictory philosophies of "freedom of the seas" (*mare liberum*) and "closed seas" (*mare clausum*).⁴ The principle of "freedom of the seas" won out, and a relatively narrow band of three nautical miles was recognised as a nation's territorial waters.⁵ The rest of the oceans were considered "high seas", not subject to any nation's control. This three mile demarcation prevailed until the mid-20th century.

In 1945 United States President Truman issued the "Truman Proclamations" that unilaterally declared that the US asserted "jurisdiction and control" over the continental shelf contiguous to the US, to develop the petroleum and other minerals off its coasts. The US also wanted to "protect coastal fishery resources from destructive exploitation."⁶ Most coastal nations soon asserted their own unilateral

³ Galdorisi (1997), p. 7-8. Marcianus wrote: 'The following things are by the Law of Nature common to all: the air, running water, the sea, and consequently the seashore.' Reeves (1917), at p.535, quoting Digest XIV.ii. I, 9 (Monro's translation).

⁴ Hugo Grotius, a Dutch jurist, relying on Roman and natural law, advocated for *mare liberum* to dispute Spain and Portugal's attempt to divide the world oceans between themselves. Grotius' work is often seen as the beginning of modern international law. Reeves (1917), p. 536. John Selden, an English lawyer, wrote a contrary argument to Grotius advocating for *mare causum*, a nation's right to appropriate parts of the sea. One of Selden's arguments was that the depletion of Britain's fishery stocks off its shores justified the exclusion of foreign fishing fleets. Galdorisi (1997), p.10. See also, Ziskind (1973).

⁵ Galdorisi (1997), p. 10. The three mile limit was derived from how far a cannon ball could fly in the early 18th century.

⁶ Presidential Proclamation 2667 of September 28, 1945. The proclamation regarding mineral resources recognised that with "modern technological progress their utilization is already practicable or will become so at an early date . . ." There are distinct differences between the two proclamations: the one

claims to ocean resources.⁷ The centuries-old customary law of a three mile jurisdictional seaward limit had imploded, and "freedom of the seas" was in retreat.

Maritime nations, including the United States, became concerned that these new extensive claims to national jurisdictions could interfere with rights of navigation or overflight.⁸ These tensions led to the convening of the First United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS I), which resulted in consensus on many issues but left undecided other issues such as the width of the territorial sea.⁹ UNCLOS II convened in 1960 but produced no significant progress on critical issues regarding jurisdictional limits.

In 1967, Arvid Pardo, Malta's Ambassador to the United Nations, gave a speech to the UN General Assembly in which he declared that the seabed and ocean floor should be a "common heritage of mankind", not subject to national appropriation.¹⁰ This speech instigated negotiations in the early 1970s that led to the convening of UNCLOS III. After approximately a decade of negotiations, the United Nations approved the treaty in April 1982. The United States was one of four countries to vote against the treaty.¹¹ It came into effect in 1994, one year after the sixtieth country ratified it.¹² As the time of writing, 155 countries have ratified the treaty.¹³ The United States has not.¹⁴ In 1983, via an executive order, President Reagan did proclaim an EEZ for the United States of 200 nautical miles in accordance with international law.¹⁵

UNCLOS III is often called the constitution for the oceans because it designates the rights and duties that nations have regarding use of the oceans. It provides for the rights to navigation and to lay submarine cables, sets a 12-nautical mile limit for territorial seas, establishes a regime for deep sea mining, promotes marine conservation, provides for scientific research and creates exclusive economic zones (EEZs) of 200 nautical miles.¹⁶ Part V of the treaty contains the provisions concerning

concerning mineral resources claimed the resources as a property right; the fishery proclamation merely claimed an exclusive right to conservation authority. McDormand (2005), p. 17.

⁷ US Commission on Ocean Policy (2004), Appendix 6, p. 4

⁸ Galdorisi (1997), p. 23

⁹ Ibid. UNCLOS I did result in agreement on four conventions: the Convention on the Territorial Sea and the Contiguous Zone, the Convention of the High Seas, the Convention on the Continental Shelf, and the Convention on Fishing and Conservation of Living Resources of the High Seas.

¹⁰ Galdorisi (1997), p. 25. Pardo was not the first to express this sentiment. A year earlier, US President Lyndon B. Johnson stated that "We must ensure that the deep seas and the ocean bottom are, and remain, the legacy of all human beings."

¹¹ Galdorisi (1997), p. 51. The US refused to vote for the treaty primarily because of the provisions regarding deep seabed mining in Part XI of the treaty. NZ signed the treaty on 10 December 1982, the day it opened for signature, and ratified the treaty on 19 July 1996.

¹² Guyana, the sixtieth country to do so, ratified the treaty on 16 November 1993.

¹³ http://www.un.org/Depts/los/reference_files/chronological_lists_of_ratifications.htm

¹⁴Galdorisi (1997), p. 73. The US signed the treaty in 1994 after its primary concerns regarding the deep seabed mining provisions were addressed through amendments to Part XI. Even though the US has not yet ratified the treaty it has acted in a manner consistent with the provisions related to traditional uses, such as navigation and overflight. In May 2007 President George W Bush urged the Senate to accede to the treaty. In October 2007 the Senate Foreign Relations Committee approved the convention by a vote of 17-4, thereby sending it to the full Senate for consideration.

¹⁵ Presidential Proclamation 5030 of 10 March 1983. 'The Exclusive Zone of the United States of America', 48 Fed. Reg. 10605 (14 March 1983).

¹⁶ UNCLOS III, Article 57

the EEZ, providing for "rights, jurisdiction and duties of the coastal state". The treaty grants "sovereign rights" for the purpose of exploring, developing and conserving living and non-living natural resources of the waters, seabed and subsoil.¹⁷ The treaty also provides for the rights and duties of other states, including the right of innocent passage, overflight, and the laying of submarine cables.¹⁸ Conservation provisions provide for the coastal states to take management measures to ensure living resources are not endangered by over-exploitation.¹⁹

In light of this history a couple of points for consideration emerge. First, technological advances have made the question of how to wisely govern the oceans more than a mere theoretical exercise. The human race has a voracious appetite for resources, both living and nonliving. Our technical capability to extract those resources has progressed a great deal over the last few decades: the depth and scale of fish and petroleum extraction has increased enormously. Technology for new and current uses continues to develop: aquaculture is growing quickly, and seabed mining and offshore renewable energy are also increasing. In addition there has also been recognition that more must be done to conserve ocean resources. The technological ability to extract more renewable and nonrenewable resources from the sea will only grow, which means that ocean governance will become more difficult over time as stakeholders will have interests in the resources.

Second, national management of vast areas of the ocean is still a relatively new concept. It has been less than 30 years since nations were granted the rights and responsibilities to manage natural resources out to 200 nautical miles.²⁰ This is an enormous change, and nations are still finding their way on the most appropriate way to exercise their rights and fulfil their obligations.

Many coastal states, including the United States and New Zealand, are currently working to improve the governance of their EEZs. Many questions have arisen. How do we balance the need for resources and the duty to conserve? How do we allow for new uses and still protect the environment? How should we choose between competing uses? Should current users be compensated for adverse impacts created by new beneficial uses? How do we integrate management of the different uses even though they are regulated by different government agencies? How should we move forward knowing we have enormous gaps in our information and knowledge about ocean resources?

¹⁷ UNCLOS III, Article 56. Sovereign rights are something less than sovereignty. See Leich (1983), p. 623

¹⁸ UNCLOS III, Article 58. The other state must comply with the laws and regulations adopted by the coastal state with control over the EEZ as long as those law and regulations are not incompatible with the treaty.

¹⁹ UNCLOS III, Article 61

²⁰ Some countries, including NZ, have filed claims with the UN Commission on the Outer Limits of the Continental Shelf for sovereign rights over the seabed of their continental shelfs outside 200 nautical miles. In 2006 NZ filed a submission in to claim an additional 1.7 million km² of seabed. In April 2008 the Commission granted Australia an additional 2.5 million km² of continental shelf, raising the hopes for a favorable ruling on New Zealand's submission.

Similarities between United States and New Zealand

The United States and New Zealand are each responsible for managing two of the largest EEZs in the world: the United States' EEZ is 11.3 million km² and New Zealand's 4.3 million km², the largest and fifth largest respectively.²¹ These marine tracts support millions of jobs and provide each nation with renewable and nonrenewable resources.²² For both, marine resources provide significant economic benefit, enhance the quality of life, and are part of their cultural heritage. The ocean carries the cargo, produces the fish, sustains biodiversity, supports tourism, provides energy, and is the focus for cultural and other non-use values.²³ Over half of Americans live within the coastal zone, and all New Zealanders live within 130 kilometres of the coast.²⁴ The ocean is clearly important to both countries.

The countries also share similar governance structures for their marine environments, including many of the same weaknesses. Their EEZs are a mosaic of laws and regulations, containing regulatory gaps and lacking cohesion.²⁵ Governance is fractured where the various sectors are regulated and managed independently of each other. In the United States 19 different federal agencies are involved in the management of marine resources.²⁶ In New Zealand 13 separate government departments or ministries have responsibility for management of some aspect of the marine environment.²⁷ This means that fisheries are regulated by one agency, energy development by another, shipping by another, and conservation by yet another. This results in a lack of a comprehensive vision and an overall purpose or planning for governance of the EEZs.

Government-mandated commissions in both countries have clearly identified the challenges facing their respective countries. In 2004 the US Commission on Ocean Policy issued *An Ocean Blueprint for the 21st Century*, a massive report that reviews the state of ocean governance in the United States.²⁸ The report is an indictment of the status quo and issues over 200 recommendations for change. The key recommendations are improved national coordination (especially in offshore waters), an enhanced regional approach, a strengthened federal agency structure, and increased investments in ocean science.²⁹ Specific to federal waters (including the EEZ), the report recognised that while the number of activities taking place is growing, unacceptable gaps in the regulatory structure remain.³⁰ The report states that an

²¹ US Commission on Ocean Policy (2004), Front Matter. The US' EEZ is 23% larger than its land mass. Pew Oceans Commission (2003), p. 5. New Zealand's EEZ is 15 times the size of its land mass. *Improving Regulation of Environmental Effects in New Zealand's Exclusive Economic Zone* (2007), p.

²² US Commission on Ocean Policy(2004), Appendix C

²³ Non-use values include conservation, biodiversity protection, cultural, spiritual, aesthetic and existence values.

²⁴ Even though half of the people in the US live in the coastal zone, it is only 17% of the land area.

²⁵ Crowder (2006), p. 617

²⁶ US Commission on Ocean Policy (2004), p.5. This number does count the agencies of the 35 coastal states and territories in the United States which generally have jurisdiction out to three nautical miles.
²⁷ Setting the Course (1999), p. 109

²⁸ Op cit. At roughly the same time that the US Commission was developing its report, the Pew Oceans Commission, an independent body, was drafting a similar report. The Pew Oceans Commission issued their report, *America's Living Oceans: Charting a Course for Sea Change*, in 2003.

²⁹ US Commission on Ocean Policy (2004), pp 5-11. See also, Cicin-Sain (2000), p. 4

³⁰ Ibid. p.98

improved regulatory structure should provide for "robust coordination for all ocean activities."³¹ The Commission also recommended that the governance regime should prioritise activities, minimise conflicts, and protect resources.³²

In New Zealand the Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment issued *Setting the Course for a Sustainable Future: The Management of New Zealand's Marine Environment*. The report notes that New Zealand's governance regime for the marine environment lacked cohesiveness³³ and recognises that this governance suffered from compartmentalisation, i.e. the various activities were administered under different laws and separate management regimes.³⁴ It is stated that this failure of integration is a "major strategic risk" for the sustainability of New Zealand's marine environment.³⁵ The report goes on to recognise that large information gaps exist in the knowledge of marine systems.³⁶

As shown by these summaries, the weaknesses of marine governance of the United States and New Zealand are very similar. Both suffer from fractured, sector-by-sector management. Both countries fail to integrate management across sectors or take a comprehensive view of the various activities in the EEZ. While having numerous laws applicable to the EEZ, both still have significant regulatory gaps in the administration of uses. Both countries share (along with the rest of the world) the problem of lack of knowledge and scientific information about marine systems. Fortunately, both countries are working to address some of their weaknesses.

New Zealand's efforts to improve EEZ governance

After the release of *Setting the Course*, New Zealand's Ministry for the Environment was charged with developing an Oceans Policy. In March 2001, as Stage One in the development of an Oceans Policy, Cabinet appointed a Ministerial Advisory Committee to undertake a public consultation to "define a collective vision³⁷ and identify the values New Zealanders believe should inform decision-making about the oceans in our jurisdiction."³⁸ During the consultation, New Zealanders said they wanted an oceans policy that would integrate management processes, provide for open and transparent decision-making, find an equitable balance between competing aspirations, provide for economic development without compromising environmental quality, ensure management decisions are informed, and promote collective responsibility.³⁹

³¹ US Commission on Ocean Policy (2004), p. 99

³² Ibid.

³³ Setting the Course (1999), p. 2

³⁴ Ibid. p. 45

³⁵ Ibid. p. 46

³⁶ Ibid. p. 75

³⁷ The vision identified through the public consultation process was: "New Zealanders understand marine life and marine processes and, accordingly take responsibility for wisely managing the health of the ocean and its contribution to the present and future social, cultural, environmental and economic well being of New Zealand." This vision statement was later shortened by Cabinet to: "Healthy Oceans: wisely managed for the greatest benefit of all New Zealanders, now and in the future." http://www.mfe.govt.nz/issues/oceans/previous-work/stage-one.html (Retrieved 27 March 2008). ³⁸ Oceans Policy Secretariat (2001), p. 3

³⁹ Ibid. p. 8

Stage Two of Oceans Policy development focused on drafting working papers, performing stocktakes and developing policies that would achieve the vision identified in Stage One.⁴⁰ Work conducted as part of Stage Two included working papers on information issues, ocean use rights, public participation, adapting to future changes, and encouraging new opportunities. After Stage Two, the Ministry for the Environment concluded that the current governance structure was "lack[ing] integration between legislation, policy, decision-making, and activities in the marine environment."⁴¹

In June 2003 while the oceans policy was in the process of being developed, the New Zealand Court of Appeal issued the Ngati Apa decision regarding the foreshore and seabed.⁴² In this case the court found that Maori could assert claims of customary title to the foreshore and seabed. Consequently, the Maori Land Court had jurisdiction to investigate Maori claims to these areas.⁴³

The government was concerned that the Ngati Apa decision could result in subsequent court decisions that would result in the public not having access in and along the foreshore and seabed. The government introduced legislation that clarified that ownership of the public foreshore and seabed (out to 12 nautical miles) was vested in the Crown, recognised Maori and non-Maori (territorial and non-territorial) customary rights, and set up a process for the legal recognition and protection of Maori and non-Maori customary rights in the public foreshore and seabed.⁴⁴ The Act also created legal rights of access and navigation. The legislation passed as the Foreshore and Seabed Act 2004. The Resource Management (Foreshore and Seabed) Amendment Act was also passed in 2004 to integrate these largely Maori rights into the framework of the Resource Management Act 1991. During this time the work on developing an Oceans Policy was effectively put on hold.

In June 2005 the Ministry for the Environment published *Offshore Options: Managing Environmental Effects in New Zealand's Exclusive Economic Zone* as a 'think piece' to stimulate debate, discussion and analysis. This document reviewed the current legislation, identified the regulatory gaps, looked at international examples for EEZ management, and outlined some potential options for improving environmental management of the EEZ.⁴⁵ As for the work on the Oceans Policy, the government decided in 2006 to pursue the highest priority issue identified so far: improving the regulatory regime to address environmental impacts in the EEZ.

In August 2007 the Ministry for the Environment released a discussion paper for consultation, *Improving Regulation of Environmental Effects in New Zealand's Exclusive Economic Zone.*⁴⁶ The discussion paper proposed "establishing new legislation to fill key gaps in EEZ environmental regulation and promote a consistent

⁴⁰ See e.g., Enfocus Ltd (2002) and Enfocus Ltd (2003)

⁴¹ Oceans Policy Secretariat (2003), p.1

⁴² Attorney General v. Ngati Apa [2003] 3 NZLR 643 (CA)

⁴³ Ibid.

⁴⁴ http://www.justice.govt.nz/foreshore/background.html (Retrieved 3 April 2008)

⁴⁵ Offshore Options (2005)

⁴⁶ In December 2007 the Ministry for the Environment released a document that provided a summary of the submissions received on the discussion paper: *Summary of Submissions on Improving Regulation of Environmental Effects in New Zealand's Exclusive Economic Zone.*

approach to environmental management across different statutes."⁴⁷ The paper identified two broad options for moving forward: 1) legislation to fill the key gaps or 2) develop a new regime to manage all activities.⁴⁸ The government's preferred option was to fill the key gaps, which included a consideration of cumulative effects across activities.⁴⁹

Cumulative Effects and Governance Structure

A regulatory approach to addressing cumulative effects has been in use for decades in many countries around the world. The need to address cumulative effects arises from the fact that environmental impacts are often the result of numerous projects or activities which can impact the environment in additive or interactive ways.⁵⁰ To use a simplified example, a few houses in a watershed will likely not impact water quality downstream; a million houses probably will. One activity by itself is not necessarily a concern but numerous activities collectively can cause environmental problems. This is often described colloquially as "death by a thousand cuts." Cumulative effects assessments (CEAs) attempt to address this problem pursuant to a regulatory regime. CEAs are usually undertaken to assess a project, a group of projects, or a policy change. This section will review definitions of cumulative effects to determine the common elements of the traditional regulatory approach to assessing them.

There is no single, agreed definition of cumulative effects or cumulative impacts. In the United States, the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA)⁵¹ regulations define cumulative effects as:

the impact on the environment which results from the incremental impact of the action when added to other past, present and reasonably foreseeable future actions regardless of what agency (Federal or non-Federal) or person undertakes such other action.⁵²

In Canada, the Cumulative Effects Assessment Practitioners Guide defines it as:

changes to the environment that are caused by an action in combination with other past, present and future human actions. 53

In New Zealand, a "cumulative effect" is not specifically defined in the Resource Management Act but the definition of "effect" does include:

(d) Any cumulative effect which arises over time or in combination with other effects—regardless of the scale, intensity, duration, or frequency of the effect.⁵⁴

⁴⁷ Summary of Submissions (2007), p. vii

⁴⁸ Ibid. p. 10

⁴⁹ Ibid. p. 10-11

⁵⁰ The terms "effects" and "impacts" are used interchangeably in this report.

⁵¹ NEPA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 *et seq.*

⁵² 40 C.F.R. §1508.7

⁵³ Hegmann, Section 2.1

⁵⁴ Resource Management Act 1991, Part 1, Section 3. See also, Milne(2008)

These definitions share key characteristics concerning the temporal scale, the spatial scale, and the synergistic effect of activities. They also share an absence of any limitation on the type of activity or impact.

Temporal Scale: All have a broad temporal reach, including past, present and future actions. It is not enough to simply look at a proposed activity's impact, an assessor must look at what impacts have already occurred and what activities may occur in the future. This raises the issue of what is the appropriate baseline for the "past" and how the forecast for the "future" should be conducted. If all past impacts are to be considered does this mean that the baseline is a pristine natural state before humans arrived? Assuming some level of impact is acceptable then what becomes unacceptable? As to future activities, how are regulators supposed to forecast what is going to happen? Do they look out 10 years? 20? 100? These questions are beyond the scope of this paper. For the purposes of this report, it is important to be aware of the complexity of assessing cumulative impacts.

Spatial Scale: The definitions include a broad spatial scale—the "environment"—which is not limited by the spatial reach of only the proposed activity. While a broad definition is wise policy, it can be difficult to implement in practice. To be workable, a spatial scale needs to be defined.

Synergistic Effects: It is recognised that impacts will combine to impact the environment and that these impacts are usually nonlinear.⁵⁵ When multiple activities affect the same environment, it is not simply a matter of adding Impact A + Impact B + Impact C because various impacts may have a multiplying effect. In practice, however, considerations of cross-sectoral impacts are rare.⁵⁶

Absence of Limitation on Activity Type: None of the definitions limit the consideration of the effects to "similar effects." The NEPA definition explicitly states that all foreseeable actions must be considered regardless of who is acting. It is not a sector-by-sector analysis. The regulator is supposed to take into account all activities, regardless of whether they have any responsibility for regulating the activity.

These characteristics presuppose that the decision-maker understands which resources are where, and is aware of all uses. Ideally, a governance regime would include a determination of what level of impact is acceptable, a forecast of future activities, the ability to analyse and address cross-sector impacts, a delineation of a spatial scale that is more manageable than "the environment". the collection and analysis of data to understand the synergistic impacts of activities, the ability to adapt easily so new proposed future activities could be taken into account, and the collected information incorporated into future analyses.

If a traditional cumulative effects regulatory regime managed to accomplish all of the above, would it be enough to ensure that all of a society's goals will be met? There are two outstanding elements: 1) cumulative effects analyses do not allow for tradeoffs, and 2) they do not adequately account for non-use values. Cumulative effects assessments are primarily analyses of current, proposed or reasonably

⁵⁵ Halpern (2007), p. 2 and p. 4. See also Liu, p. 1514

⁵⁶ Halpern (2007), p. 2

foreseeable activities or uses. They lack the ability to determine which activity is superior to another or to decide when one use should be supplanted by another. They do not allow for tradeoffs between uses.⁵⁷ Non-use values, such as protection of biodiversity, existence values, cultural values, and aesthetics, can also be overlooked.⁵⁸ Under traditional cumulative effect assessments, the question is usually "should this particular proposed use be allowed?" where the more appropriate question may be "taking all societal goals into account, which use or non-use is best for this place?"

Under current sector-by-sector governance structures for the oceans in both the United States and New Zealand tradeoffs between sectors are not part of the structure, forecasting of future growth across sectors and then applying it to current decisions is uncommon, synergistic impacts are not well understood, and government agencies are not known for being easily adaptable. What other strategies exist to improve governance of an EEZ?

To begin to address this we must first acknowledge that the oceans are the largest commons on the planet. They do not belong to any one nation. The EEZs of the world are not "owned" by the coastal nations; they are merely granted "sovereign rights" to this area.⁵⁹ Even territorial seas, although part of the national jurisdictions of the US and NZ, are commons because the sovereign holds them in trust for the people of the nation. The next chapter will discuss the challenges this presents and identify the various mechanisms for commons governance in the context of the EEZ.

⁵⁷ Halpern (2007), p. 6

⁵⁸ Hanna (1996), p. 43

⁵⁹UNCLOS III, Article 56

2 CHALLENGES TO GOVERNING THE EEZ COMMONS

Commons, or "common pool resources"⁶⁰ (CPRs) present two challenges: the difficulty of exclusion and the subtractability problem.⁶¹ Exclusion means "the ability to exclude people other than the members of a defined group."⁶² CPRs are subject to easy access by numerous people, which can lead to over-exploitation of the resource. Subtractability means each user can subtract resources from the welfare of other users.⁶³ If one user takes the resource from the system then the resource will not be available for extraction by another user. For example, if a person catches and keeps a fish that fish will not be available for extraction by anyone else, i.e. the fish is "subtracted" from the resource system permanently. The key of commons governance, therefore, is to limit access to the resources (i.e. overcome the exclusion problem) and regulate the users at sustainable levels (i.e. overcome the subtractability problem).⁶⁴

For successful governance of a CPR that is subject to overexploitation, access to the resource must be limited. If a CPR is not subject to over-exploitation and the extraction of the resource does not adversely affect the ecosystem then there is little need for formal governance institutions. It may be possible to develop collective rules to govern CPRs but if non-members can gain access to the resources then there is a risk of overextraction. Even if non-members are excluded, outside stresses such as population growth or technology changes can break down existing rules of exclusion.⁶⁵ If non-members are excluded but users still overexploit the resources then long-term sustainability will not be achieved. To solve CPR problems, therefore, the governance institutions must both restrict access to sustainable levels and create incentives for users to invest in the long-term health of the resource.⁶⁶ This can be accomplished through different governance mechanisms: by government, by markets, or by co-management.

Early Commons Literature

In 1968 Garrett Hardin wrote a seminal paper, "Tragedy of the Commons", which discussed the challenges of managing the commons.⁶⁷ The example that Hardin uses in his article is of a pasture that is open to all for cattle grazing. Hardin argues that each herdsman will seek to maximise his gain in the pasture thereby leading inexorably to the over-exploitation of the pasture. Each herdsman receives all of the benefits (i.e. profits) from the sale of his cattle, but incurs a small fraction of the cost (degradation of the pasture).⁶⁸ Added to this is the fact that if a herdsman refrains from putting more cattle on the pasture, other herdsmen will add cattle so his forebearance results in no benefit to him. Hardin argues that each rational herdsman will conclude that "the only sensible course for him to pursue is to add another animal to his herd. And another, and another, and another. But this is the conclusion reached

⁶⁰ The terms "commons" and "CPR" are used interchangeably in this report.

⁶¹ Ostrom (1999), p. 278

⁶² Berkes (2006), p. 47

⁶³ Ibid. p. 46

⁶⁴ Berkes (2006), p. 47

⁶⁵ Ibid.

⁶⁶ Ostrom (1999), p. 279.

⁶⁷ Hardin (1968)

⁶⁸ Hardin (1968), p. 1244.

by each and every rational herdsman sharing the commons." Hardin concludes that "freedom in the commons brings ruin to all."⁶⁹

Hardin reasoned that the incentives for individuals to use common property worked in such a way that would lead to degradation of the commons.⁷⁰ The incentives for each individual did not align with the collective good. Hardin offered two ways to deal with this tragedy: government action to regulate the use of the commons, or privatisation of the commons so individuals would have an incentive to conserve.⁷¹

Since Hardin published his article, however, it has been proved that sustainable commons governance can be achieved in ways that neither required government control of the commons nor privatisation of the resource. In *Governing the Commons* Elinor Ostrom shows that numerous examples exist of communities managing common resources for the benefit of the community based on rules of the community's devising.⁷² In fact, many solutions exist to address many different problems.⁷³ Ostrom's book, however, is of limited reach. It focuses on analyses of small-scale CPRs with a limited number of individuals who are dependent on the resource for their economic well-being.⁷⁴ Her examples are primarily concerned with only one or two resources at a time, and not with the ecological system as a whole.

Given the fact that the early commons research was based on local community commons, it remains an open question to what degree the lessons learned in those local fora can be scaled up to much larger resources and more complex social systems.⁷⁵ It is apparent that larger commons have additional issues to address, such as having a larger number of participants, increased heterogeneity, the inherent complications of multiple and linked CPRs, and tiered governance structures.⁷⁶

Complexities of Governing the Commons

As discussed above, much of the early academic work on the governance institutions of common pool resources was limited to the context of a single community managing a single resource, such as a fishery, or a forest, or water.⁷⁷ Due to the limited scale of the analyses, two significant considerations remain: the complexity of the biophysical environment (the ecological system) and the complexity of the social, economic and political setting (the social system).⁷⁸

The ecosystem is not one resource but many resources combined in a complex interacting system. As for the social setting, a community of people and their interrelationships are rarely simple.⁷⁹ Individuals may have different interests, world views, priorities, and histories. In any given instance, there may or may not be

⁶⁹ Ibid. p. 1244

⁷⁰ Ibid. p. 1244

⁷¹ Ibid. p. 1244

⁷² Ostrom (1990). Ostrom acknowledges that her analysis is limited to small-scale CPRs.

⁷³ Ibid. p. 14

⁷⁴ Ibid. p. 25

⁷⁵ Berkes (2006), p. 45

⁷⁶ Ostrom (1999), p. 281-282

⁷⁷ Paavola (2007), p. 94

⁷⁸ Agrawal (2001), p. 1655

⁷⁹ Berkes (2006), p. 48

effective leaders, community ties, and good relationships. Also, local communities do not manage CPRs in a vacuum; there are often broader forces at work, such as global market pressures, national political changes, or technological innovation. This broader social, political and institutional setting is the "social system", which includes property rights, systems of knowledge, the political context, and ethics.⁸⁰ Not only are both ecological and social systems complex in and of themselves, these two systems are inextricably linked. Social systems (people) and ecological systems (nature) cannot be thought of as two separate systems but must be governed as a single social-ecological system.⁸¹

Matching the scales of governance to a social-ecological system can be a complex undertaking.⁸² This is often described as "the problem of fit"⁸³, and it is one of the persistent challenges to managing social-ecological systems.⁸⁴ Ideally, the governance structure of a social-ecological system should match the scale of the ecosystem while accounting for social scales.⁸⁵ With a large CPR, such as the oceans, governance institutions will have to operate at different levels. There will not be one scale of governance but many, all interlocking and linked.⁸⁶ These different scale levels have to be integrated with each other so there is cohesion to the whole.⁸⁷ The complexity grows exponentially when trying to integrate across communities or aggregate multiple communities up into higher scales of governance. Integrating multiple scales of social-ecological governance is not easy. Larger CPRs, therefore, are usually more difficult to govern.

Characteristics of the EEZ that Affect Governance

Scholars have identified a number of characteristics of the common pool resource and its context that affect the design of the governance regimes.⁸⁸ This section will discuss the relevant characteristics of the EEZ resource system and how they may affect governance.

The ecological system characteristics that affect the design of a governance regime include:

- Size of the resource system (i.e. ecoregion)
- Existence of well-defined boundaries
- Levels of mobility of the resource system
- Possibilities of storage in the system
- Predictability⁸⁹

⁸⁰ Berkes (1998), p. 2

⁸¹ Ibid.

⁸² See, Agrawal (2001) and Ostrom (2007), which identify dozens of variables relevant to analysing a social-ecological system.

⁸³ Galaz (2006), p. 1

⁸⁴ Cash (2006), p. 11

⁸⁵ Galaz (2006), p.1

⁸⁶ Berkes (2006), p. 48. See also, Armitage (2008), pp. 14-15

⁸⁷ Berkes (2006), p. 48

⁸⁸ Agrawal (2001), p. 1654 and p. 1659. In addition to resource system characteristics, other relevant characteristics include group characteristics, institutional arrangements, the relationship between the group, institutions and the resource systems, and external drivers.

⁸⁹ Agrawal (2001), p. 1659

Applying these characteristics to the EEZ reveals the difficulty of managing a common pool resource as vast and dynamic as the ocean.

Size of the resource system. Generally, smaller resource systems are easier to manage than large systems.⁹⁰ Smaller systems usually mean a smaller pool of stakeholders and fewer levels of governance. Larger systems tend to greater complexity in governance regimes. Smaller resource systems make exclusion more manageable. The EEZ is obviously a vast resource, which does not lend itself to simple governance regimes.

Existence of well-defined boundaries. Twenty years ago this would have been a significant if not insurmountable hurdle in the EEZ, but with the advent of LIDAR, satellite observations, GPS, and other high-tech tools, defining clear boundaries for management purposes in the open ocean is now practicable.

Level of mobility of the resources. High levels of mobility are more difficult to govern due to "information complexity and cost, and the difficulty of capturing the benefits of individual or collective action."⁹¹ With mobile resource flows, it is difficult to determine the cause of a flow decline, which means it is also difficult to determine how to address the decline.⁹² Early commons literature tended to analyse "one resource" governance regimes so that a resource is deemed to be either mobile or not mobile. But in the case of the EEZ there are multiple resources: renewable and nonrenewable, mobile and stationary. Combine the highly mobile resources of many fisheries with the non-mobile resources such as seabed mineral deposits or a defined ocean space, and the level of complexity in the EEZ only grows.

Possibilities of storage in the system. Storage capacity allows users to capture and store resource flow units.⁹³ Storage can provide some buffers to the vagaries of resource flows, and it can make users more willing to delay appropriation of the resource, which can reduce conflicts among users.⁹⁴ An example of this would be a water appropriator storing water in a reservoir to draw on when water flows are low. This characteristic seems to be applicable only to renewable resources, and storage of renewable resources in the EEZ context is not possible.⁹⁵

Predictability: While nearly every resource system is complex and completely predictability, more predictable systems are easier to govern because management actions are more likely to result in a discernible outcome.⁹⁶ The EEZ environment is extremely difficult to study because of its vast three dimensional space, its inaccessibility, the variety of habitats, creatures, and complex food webs, just to name a few.⁹⁷ Difficulty of prediction means moving governance forward is

⁹⁰ See e.g. Ostrom (2007), p. 15184

⁹¹ Schlager (1994), p. 297

⁹² Ibid.

⁹³ Ibid. p. 299

⁹⁴ Ibid. p. 300

⁹⁵ Aquaculture should not be considered storage in this context because aquacultured fish are not flows from the resource system but a cultivated product that is subject to appropriation only by the owner of the pen.

⁹⁶ Agrawal (2001), p. 1655

⁹⁷ Hixon (2001), p. 2

often controversial because stakeholders disagree about what management action is "best", and there is no guarantee of success.

According to these characteristics, it is clear that designing governance regimes for the EEZ is a particularly difficult case. The regime will need to account for massive scale, mobile and immobile resources, and a high level of uncertainty. This in addition to the general complexity of governing a commons. However, sustainable governance of the commons is achievable, and different mechanisms exist to address the challenges.

Governance Mechanisms

Three general mechanisms exist to govern the commons: the government, the market, and co-management, the last being a continuum from near total local user control to government management that is heavily reliant on stakeholders.98 The term "mechanism" is deliberately used instead of the phrase "property rights regime." Much of the commons literature describes four different types of property rights systems that have evolved or been designed to manage common pool resources.⁹⁹ Property rights are often described as a bundle of rights, which can include access, withdrawal, management, exclusion, and alienation.¹⁰⁰ While property rights are a necessary component of governance regimes, couching them in a property rights typology is limiting because governance entails more than the assignment of property rights.

Governance includes regulation of property holders, monitoring, enforcement, conflict resolution and decision-making processes.¹⁰¹ While property holders may choose how to accomplish these governance tasks they need not be linked to a property interest. Because governance is about more than property rights and responsibilities, the three broad categories of governance mechanisms provide a more appropriate typology.

While specific potential strategies for the EEZ via each of these mechanisms will be discussed in section three, a general overview of each of these mechanisms for CPRs follows. It should be noted that the three mechanisms are not strictly delineated categories; often one mechanism will entail elements of the other two. The categories, however, are helpful to determine the primary thrust of the governance regime.

Government Mechanisms

One of the ways to address governance of CPRs is for the government to own and manage the resource and thereby can limit access and impede the incentives for overexploitation. In other words, government can address the CPR problems of difficulty of exclusion and subtractability through regulation. Through "command and control", the government regulates issues of access to resources and withdrawal. ssues of

⁹⁸ Juda (2001), p.44. Juda identified "three key general mechanisms of governance: the marketplace, the government, and nongovernmental institutions and arrangements." This report uses the term comanagement instead of nongovernmental because in the EEZ government is required to be involved as the holder of sovereign rights.

⁹⁹ Ostrom (1999), p. 279. The four are open access, group property, individual property, and government property. ¹⁰⁰ Grafton (2000), p. 512

¹⁰¹ Paavola (2007), p. 99

complexity and coordination are overcome by having one party, i.e. the government, make the decisions.¹⁰² Government can also take non-market values into account, which the market mechanisms fail to adequately address.¹⁰³ Another potential benefit of the government mechanism is the economies of scale in data gathering, information dissemination, management, and enforcement.¹⁰⁴

In reality, of course, government on large scales usually involves multiple agencies that fail to coordinate sufficiently with each other. Government bureaucracies can be slow to react to ecological change.¹⁰⁵ Lastly, governments can promulgate rules that create perverse incentives to the on-the-ground users that result in detrimental unintended consequences.¹⁰⁶

Market Mechanisms

The market can also be the primary mechanism for governing the commons by encouraging behaviour through market incentives rather than through the command and control approach of government.¹⁰⁷ Commons can create perverse incentives due to a conflict between an individual's interests and the collective interest. Market mechanisms attempt to overcome those perverse incentives by aligning both interests.¹⁰⁸

The primary benefits of market mechanisms are the creation of incentives for innovation and the promotion of economic efficiency.¹⁰⁹ If well-designed and implemented, market mechanisms will spur innovation because an individual will retain some of the benefits from helping to advance the collective goal.¹¹⁰ By using market mechanisms, efficiency is promoted because market forces and the right to sell will result in the resource rights ending up with the more productive user.¹¹¹

Market mechanisms can however ignore non-marketable values, such as biodiversity or conservation.¹¹² Most of the examples of a successful market mechanism in the environmental arena are for only one type of resource at a time, e.g. a market for air pollution, a market for water pollution, a market for a commercial fish species. The viability of market mechanisms to govern the full panoply of resources within an ecosystem is open to debate.

¹⁰² Grafton (2000), p. 507

¹⁰³ Ibid.

¹⁰⁴ Ibid. p. 513

¹⁰⁵ Ibid. p. 508

¹⁰⁶ Ibid. p. 508. Grafton uses an example of a government-imposed fishing season to limit overexploitation, which creates an incentive for the fishers to increase their fishing effort during the season to maintain their catch level.

¹⁰⁷ Stavins (1998), p.1

¹⁰⁸ Ibid. One of the better known examples of a market mechanism in the environmental arena is tradable permits for air pollution, often referred to as "cap and trade". The government sets an overall policy limit but users can sell allowances between themselves. If a user can reduce their air pollution then they directly benefit from that because they can sell the unused allowances on the market.

¹⁰⁹ Stavins (1998), p. 2

¹¹⁰ Mansfield (2004), p. 313

¹¹¹ Schlager (1992), p. 256

¹¹² Hanna (1996), p. 43.

Co-Management

There is strong academic support for co-management, a concept that acknowledges the links between social and ecological systems. Co-management is a "sharing of responsibilities, rights and duties between the primary stakeholders, in particular, local communities and the nation state; a decentralised approach to decision-making that involves the local users in the decision-making process as equals with the nationstate."¹¹³ There can be no one set framework for successful co-management because social-ecological systems are widely varied in government, ecology, social setting, and culture.¹¹⁴ Co-management is a broad spectrum that encompasses numerous processes and techniques, limited only by the ingenuity and creativity of the people involved. The ultimate tests are whether the resources are being sustainably managed and the participants believe the regime is effective.

Co-management is best viewed as a process for governance, not as a "formalized power sharing agreement."¹¹⁵ The characteristics of co-management include pluralism, communication and negotiation, transactive decision-making, social learning, and shared action/commitment.¹¹⁶ It is inclusive and collaborative. This means that co-management is heavily dependent on the relationships between the participants.¹¹⁷ However, co-management has been analysed primarily in a local context so whether it is a viable strategy for a commons the size of the EEZ is doubtful.

¹¹³ Report from the International Workshop on Community-based Natural Resource Management

^{(1999), ,}p. 11 ¹¹⁴ Plummer (2004), p. 877. See also, Carlsson (2008), p. 34. This is not to say that social-ecological systems cannot be analysed to determine how governance variables effect the success or failure of commons governance. See, Ostrom (2007) and Carlsson (2005), p. 67

¹¹⁵ Carlsson (2005), p. 66

¹¹⁶ Plummer (2004), p. 880

¹¹⁷ Ibid.

3 POTENTIAL STRATEGIES FOR IMPROVING GOVERNANCE OF NEW ZEALAND'S EEZ

National governments are granted "sovereign rights" pursuant to UNCLOS III, so any attempt at EEZ governance reform must include the government. In New Zealand and the United States the sovereign rights to the EEZ are held in trust for the people. The government need not however be the primary driver of governance. This chapter will make some preliminary points about the timing of governance reform (Section A), discuss the traditional regulatory approach to addressing cumulative effects (Section B), and then analyse other potential strategies to improve governance of the EEZ (Sections C-E). The other potential strategies that will be discussed include government mechanisms, market mechanisms, and co-management.

A Word about Maori Rights in EEZ Resources

Before proceeding a brief word must be said about Maori and their rights to EEZ resources. Maori have a special status in New Zealand, culturally, legally and politically. Maori derive their rights from numerous sources, including the Treaty of Waitangi, treaty settlements, and aboriginal rights.¹¹⁸ Regarding resources relevant to the EEZ, the government and Maori have reached settlements concerning commercial fisheries, but Maori rights do no stop there.¹¹⁹ The exact nature and extent of Maori rights in the EEZ are beyond the scope of this report, but Maori are more than a stakeholder. Whatever strategies the government may decide to pursue in the future Maori should be participants in the decision-making as warranted by their special status and legal rights.

Timing of Governance Reform

The New Zealand EEZ is a vast place (15 times the land area of the country) and its closest neighbors are relatively far away. In the short term, conflicts between users will be few and far between.

Thought must be given, however, to the future because uses of the ocean resources are increasing as are their impacts.¹²⁰ Mining, and oil and gas companies are exploring, renewable energy companies (e.g. wind, wave and tidal) are looking to expand in marine waters, and aquaculture may extend outside territorial waters. In addition fishing, shipping, and the laying of submarine cables will continue. New Zealand is also committed to protecting its biodiversity, which will include (but not be limited to) marine protected areas and marine reserves.¹²¹ Amending governance regimes will

¹¹⁸ Pursuant to the English version of the Treaty of Waitangi, Maori have "full exclusive and undisturbed possession of their Lands and Estates Forests and Fisheries and other properties which they may collectively and individually possess . . ." According to the same article in the Maori version of the Treaty, Maori have the "unqualified exercise of their chieftainship over their lands, villages and all their treasures." Te Puni Kokiri (2002), p.10 and 12

¹¹⁹ See Bess (2001) for a discussion about Maori rights to fisheries resources.

¹²⁰ Peart (2005), Chapter 7. See also, Halpern (2008)

¹²¹ Marine Protected Areas: Policy and Implementation Plan and Marine Protected Areas: Draft Classification and Protection Standard

become more complex over time so New Zealand needs to be forward looking in order to be prepared to respond to the changes.¹²²

To prepare New Zealand needs to be able to anticipate which uses are increasing and where they will be operating in order to determine when conflicts will arise that are not adequately addressed by the current governance structure. If numerous conflicting interests (i.e. more than two sectors with incompatible uses) are foreseen to occur in the same area then governance improvements for those areas may be necessary. It will be useful to attempt to forecast future uses in the marine environment and determine where potential conflicts are most likely to arise before they actually occur.

Reform will not need to be accomplished over the entire EEZ at the same time, but could be focused on particular areas or resources where uses are higher. For example, seamounts may be the focus of multiple conflicting interests. Seamounts can be productive fishing areas because many fish species congregate around them. They are attractive to mining interests because their volcanic nature means they can be rich in minerals. Seamounts are key areas for biodiversity so they have a potentially high conservation value. It is critical that the spatial scale for a sub-EEZ effort take broader ecosystem types and functions into account to allow for a full understanding of the impact to the environment.

Broader EEZ governance reform¹²³ is a type of future-proofing for when the case-bycase approach becomes insufficient.

Traditional Regulatory Approach to Addressing Cumulative Effects

At this time the Ministry for the Environment is preparing legislation to close regulatory gaps to address environmental impacts and cumulative effects in the EEZ. Addressing cumulative effects through a regulatory framework has been a strategy in use worldwide for decades, although they often do an inadequate job.¹²⁴ A single, universally accepted approach to assessing cumulative effects does not exist.¹²⁵

Examples from the United States and New Zealand

Both the US and NZ have laws that seek to address cumulative effects. In the US the primary federal law is the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA).¹²⁶ With a few exceptions the Act applies to all federal agencies.¹²⁷ It requires federal agencies to assess and take into account the environmental effects of their actions, including

¹²² A NZ example of an emerging use overwhelming governance was the rapid growth in aquaculture applications under the RMA in the early 2000s. Regional councils were struggling to process the influx of consent applications for aquaculture farms in the territorial sea. The government put a two-year moratorium on aquaculture consent applications to allow the regional councils time to plan and delineate aquaculture zones ..

¹²³ "Broader governance reform" does not include the current effort to fill regulatory gaps to address environmental effects, which should be completed as soon as practicable.

¹²⁴ There are instances where cumulative effects have been successfully addressed through the regulatory process. See e.g. Therivel (2007), pp. 369-370

¹²⁵ Study on the Assessment of Indirect and Cumulative Impacts as Well as Impact Interactions (1999), pp. ii-iii. Approaches to addressing cumulative effects have generally been classified as a scientific or a planning approach. ¹²⁶ 42 U.S.C. 4321 *et seq*

¹²⁷ Citizen's Guide to the NEPA (2007), p. 1

consideration of cumulative effects.¹²⁸ In New Zealand the primary law that addresses cumulative effects to the environment is the Resource Management Act (RMA) 1991. Administered by regional and district councils, the RMA seeks to integrate environmental management of land, water, sea (out to 12 nautical miles) and air. The Act also includes provisions regarding cumulative effects. The two approaches share many similarities.

United States' National Environmental Policy Act

Since NEPA applies to all federal agencies, guidance on how to implement the Act is usually issued by the Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ), which is housed in the Executive Office of the President and is charged with coordinating federal environmental policy. In a handbook on addressing cumulative effects the CEQ identifies three stages of a cumulative effects assessment: 1) scoping, 2) describing the affected environment, and 3) determining the environmental consequences.¹²⁹

Each stage is broken down into further multiple steps. The scoping stage involves four steps: 1) identify the significant cumulative effects associated with a proposed action, 2) establish the geographic scope of the analysis (i.e. spatial scale), 3) establish the timeframe for the analysis (i.e. the temporal scale), and 4) identify other actions affecting the environment.¹³⁰ The handbook notes that federal assessments often underestimate the number of future impacts because they do not take into account state and locally approved actions.¹³¹ In other words, analysis across different government agencies is incomplete.

The second stage, describing the affected environment, is a three step process: 1) characterising the resource, ecosystems and human communities, 2) characterising the stresses affecting these resources, ecosystems and human communities and 3) defining a baseline condition for the resources, ecosystems and human communities.¹³² Obtaining the data necessary to perform this analysis is often one of the biggest challenges.¹³³ Stage 3, determining the environmental consequences, is a four step process: 1) identify the cause and effect relationship between human activities and resources, 2) determine the magnitude and significance of cumulative effects, 3) modify or add an alternative that would avoid, minimise, or mitigate the effects, and 4) monitor the effects.¹³⁴

The extensive NEPA process is outlined to make the point that cumulative effect assessments are complicated, data-dependent undertakings. Not only do the regulators need information about natural resources of the receiving environment, they need to know about everything that *is* occurring and everything that *will* reasonably occur in the affected environment and how that all works together to affect the environment. If the data are lacking, the regulators have to make decisions based on assumptions or educated guesses.

¹²⁸ Ibid.

¹²⁹ Considering Cumulative Effects under the National Environmental Policy Act (1997)

¹³⁰ Ibid. p. 11

¹³¹ Ibid. p. 19

¹³² Ibid. p. 23

¹³³ Ibid. p. 31

¹³⁴ I Considering Cumulative Effects under the National Environmental Policy Act (1997), p. 37

New Zealand's Resource Management Act

In New Zealand cumulative effects assessments are part of the Resource Management Act (RMA). The RMA does not apply to the EEZ because it is limited to 12 nautical miles. It is the best New Zealand example for "lessons learned" on the traditional regulatory approach to cumulative effects assessments. Under the RMA it is still an open question as to what is the appropriate scope for cumulative effects assessment.¹³⁵ A recent discussion paper identified three tasks for performing a cumulative effects assessment:136

- 1) Identify the resource
- 2) Determine the capacity of the resource and set sustainable limits, and
- 3) Determine when enough is enough.

The NEPA and RMA approaches are similar. Both require determination of the spatial scale, analysis of all significant impacts to the environment regardless of the sector, and include some element of forecasting uses, and an attempt to determine what level of impacts are acceptable. Both are not straightforward, and have mixed results.

Traditional Regulatory Approach to Assessing Cumulative Effects in the EEZ

In the context of the EEZ, under the proposed new law, performing cumulative effects assessments will have technical challenges. In identifying the resource there are issues of data availability and of scale. Simple identification can be challenging given the fact that the resources are hundreds of metres underwater. One cannot download satellite images of the earth's surface as can be done at the macro level on land. Scientists have used what data and information do exist to delineate regions based on biogeography, but there is a worldwide lack of data about deep ocean resources.

Identifying the appropriate scale at which to analyse cumulative affects is not obvious. Is the affected environment all of the EEZ? Is it the biogeographical region? Is it the habitat type? Is it the extent of the actual effects of the project? A scale encompassing the entire EEZ is too large but a scale of the actual spatial scope of a proposed project is too small. A project or activity will not affect the entire EEZ and even a project with broad impacts will not distribute those effects evenly across the entire EEZ. For example, fisheries are not one monolithic activity but a series of management regimes for different species broken down into regions.¹³⁷ Even within a region, the fishing impacts are usually not evenly distributed. Consequently, assessing the impacts of fishing and other activities on an EEZ-wide scale is not appropriate because such an assessment would not relate to the nature or scope of the impacts.

Similarly, assessing cumulative impacts on the scale of the specific project or activity is also inappropriate because it is not broad enough to capture synergistic effects or capture the effects of numerous activities building up over time. If the analysis is only of the specific site, effects from offsite that impact on the same environment would not be adequately considered.

¹³⁵ Milne (2008), p. 6

¹³⁶ Ibid. pp. 9-13
¹³⁷ See Annual Report 2006/07, Ministry of Fisheries

The appropriate scale is somewhere in the middle, although it is far from obvious what the appropriate scale should be. New Zealand's National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research (NIWA) developed for the Ministry for the Environment a series of environmental classifications for New Zealand's EEZ.¹³⁸ These classifications were based on data such as depth, solar radiation, sea surface temperature, tidal currents and slope.¹³⁹ NIWA generated a series of maps that classified the EEZ into 2, 4, 9, 15, or 20 levels.¹⁴⁰

The answer then may not be found at one particular scale but at multiple scales. Analysing according to the marine classification would be helpful because that scale takes the environment into account. But this might miss synergistic effects in other marine regions or fail to account for one habitat type that appears in multiple regions (e.g. seamounts) being targeted. Looking at broad impacts across habitat type regardless of which classified marine environment it is in would also be helpful to ensure that some particular habitats are not taking the brunt of the impacts. Looking at only habitat types does not take into account how different habitat types function together or life cycles of living resources. Analysing one scale will likely not be sufficient— cumulative effects should be analysed at multiple scales to ensure that there is not a "pooling" of effects in specific places, habitats, or bioregions.

The second stage of the process to assess cumulative effects is to determine the carrying capacity of the resource and set sustainable limits. This relates back to the problem of lack of data and knowledge. How does one go about setting carrying capacity for the EEZ when we do not have knowledge of what resources are down there or how they function together? Regional ecosystem assessments are being performed in some places around the world but relating that back to how much use should be allowed is still new territory. Regulators may be able to set a carrying capacity for the various fisheries, but that does not necessarily equate to the carrying capacity for the various habitats, non-commercial species, or ecosystem functions. Some solutions could include setting limits on benthic impacts to habitats or impacts to bioregions.

The third stage is deciding when enough is enough. If signs of degradation start to appear chances are the regulation of the impacts have come too late. Given the scale of ocean ecosystems, if decline is noticeable then the damage has probably already been done. Regulators should seek to prevent a long-term downward trend. This can be difficult given the natural variability of ecosystems. For example, a "bad" year of productivity does not necessarily mean the species or ecosystem is on the decline because the downturn could be within the range of natural variability of the system. Knowing whether the downward trend is due to natural variability or a negatively impacted ecosystem can be difficult to discern.¹⁴¹

Even if the practical difficulties are addressed, the review of cumulative effects through a consent application process is to make a decision only on the project being reviewed. Will the project be approved and, if so, what conditions will be placed on

¹³⁸ The New Zealand Marine Environment Classification (2005)

¹³⁹ Ibid. p. 7

¹⁴⁰ Ibid. pp. 39-41

¹⁴¹ Schlager (1994), p. 297

it? The final decision is about the impact of one project. In effect, the regulator is looking for the one project that will be the straw that breaks the camel's back. At the scale of the EEZ, and with the lack of knowledge about it, it is doubtful whether this is possible.

Advantages

Appropriate to the problem: The technical difficulties are challenging but there are definite strengths to a regulatory approach to addressing cumulative effects. The first strength is that the scale of the solution fits the problem at hand. The level of risk from the increasing uses of the EEZ is small and will remain so into the near future. Currently the largest impact is from fishing activities and a law exists to address those specific impacts. Given the relatively low risk of increasing uses outside of fishing, addressing cumulative effects addresses the risk currently at hand.

Models exist: A second strength is that methods exist to perform a cumulative effects analysis. Assessing and addressing cumulative effects has been done for decades and New Zealand can learn much from these efforts. Most efforts have not been particularly successful but they remain a source for learning.

Low implementation costs: This approach has relatively low implementation costs. In the near term, New Zealand anticipates that there will only be a handful of consent applications a year under this new regulatory regime.¹⁴² This regime will address the issues at hand at relatively low costs, and some of those costs will be borne by the applicant.

Improved integration: Addressing cumulative effects should mean that the regulating authority will be looking at impacts from all sectors. One of the weaknesses of New Zealand's current governance regime for the EEZ is that it is fractured and managed on a sector-by-sector basis. Assessing cumulative effects means that the regulating authority will be looking across sectors so a comprehensive view of uses and anticipated future uses can be analysed. A first step to improving integration is to know what each government agency is doing, and this approach will help accomplish that. The cross-sectoral analysis should include forecasting of future uses in order for New Zealand to stay in front of the growing uses. When a congregation of activities looks like it will appear in the near future then New Zealand may want to consider broader governance strategies for those "hotspot" areas.

Disadvantages

Lack of comprehensive view: In addition to the technical difficulties outlined above, a cumulative effects regulatory approach has some weaknesses. Ultimately it is primarily an analysis of one project. This will limit the government's ability to be forward-looking because it reacts to what the applicant is proposing for a particular spot. The country's ability to determine how it wants to use or conserve its ocean resources as a whole is limited. If a country does not define where it wants to go then where it ends up is a matter of chance.

¹⁴² It should be noted that fishing will be excluded from this consent process because fishing activities are managed under the Fisheries Act.

No sectoral tradeoffs: Even though the traditional regulatory approach will allow for cross-sectoral analysis, it will not allow for cross-sectoral tradeoffs. If there is a conflict of uses on what basis is the decision made as to which use has priority? Is it the existing use—which would likely be fishing? If the existing use has priority, what level of impact on the existing use should be allowed by a new use? What if the new use has a potentially greater economic benefit with less environmental impact? These questions will not necessarily be answered through a cumulative effects analysis. The tradeoffs will be decided by the ministry responsible for consents or by an environmental court on a case-by-case basis. Even if the two sectors are interested in working issues out amongst themselves, a formal mechanism is lacking. This inability to make decisions between sectors will be a weakness that will grow over time as more and more uses compete for EEZ resources.

Non-use values are not adequately accounted for: Addressing cumulative effects is entirely calibrated on looking at uses. Non-use values are only considered indirectly and then in the context of whether and under what conditions a use should be allowed. If the history of the Resource Management Act is any guide, most consents will likely be issued.¹⁴³ The consent process will primarily set conditions on that use. Under the traditional regulatory approach there is no mechanism for considering non-use values on their own basis. Other laws exist to achieve non-use goals, but they are not linked to this regime. So consents may be approved year after year for increasing uses while non-use values do not proceed at all. Ideally there would be a mechanism for tradeoffs not only between sectors, but between use and non-use values. Without such a mechanism it is likely that as new uses are approved non-use values will make slow or no progress.

Government Mechanisms for Improved Governance

There are three mechanisms that address governance of the commons: the government, the market, or co-management.¹⁴⁴ These categories are neither mutually exclusive nor strictly delineated. Government control may include market mechanisms; market mechanisms first need the government to create the market; co-management will include governments and may include market mechanisms. The distinction between the three is based on the **primary** mechanism for ongoing governance. This section discusses two broad government mechanisms: coordination of government activities and area-based management.

Coordination of Government Activities

Fractured governance is one of the significant weaknesses of the EEZ governance regimes of the United States and New Zealand. A strategy that could improve governance is to better integrate management across government agencies. This can be done in a number of ways but this report will focus on two methods for accomplishing more integrated management of the EEZ: a whole-of-government effort and an 'overlord' ministry. Both of these strategies are focused on governmental improvement, that is they are primarily concerned with how government ministries relate to each other, not to outside stakeholders.

¹⁴³ Milne (2008), p. 2

¹⁴⁴ Juda (2001), p. 44

Whole-of-Government Approach

One method to have government ministries better coordinate activities is to require them to form a coordinated, multi-agency, which has been done at the federal level in the United States. The US Commission on Ocean Policy considered improved federal coordination as a "first step" to improve management and governance of the oceans.¹⁴⁵ The Commission recommended that a National Ocean Council (NOC) be created that would be made up of high-level officials from all of the relevant federal agencies.¹⁴⁶ In response to this recommendation, President George W Bush issued an Executive Order creating a Committee on Ocean Policy to "coordinate the activities of executive departments and agencies."¹⁴⁷ The Committee provides advice on the establishment of policies, obtains and disseminates information, facilitates activities between government agencies, and coordinates government activities.¹⁴⁸ No new laws were passed so each agency relies on their existing statutory authorities to achieve the Committee's purpose.¹⁴⁹

New Zealand could follow a similar approach. In fact, during the work on developing an Oceans Policy carried out between 2000 and 2003, the Ministry for the Environment developed a plan for such an effort that was shelved when the Oceans Policy work was put on hold mid-2003. A whole-of-government effort would entail the establishment of an interagency group made up of representatives from each of the relevant ministries, tasked with coordinating their regulatory authorities, monitoring activities, and planning efforts. This would not require any new legal authorities, but the whole-of-government group could be charged with identifying statutory conflicts and developing recommendations for addressing those conflicts.

A whole-of-government effort will be more effective if it is working to achieve something concrete. For example, the effort could (through its own initiative or by being tasked with it) identify a few priority issues that reach across ministries, develop strategies and actions to address those priorities, and then explicitly divide the work amongst the ministries to implement the identified actions. In this way, the whole-of-government could become a focal point for action and not just coordination.

This strategy has met with some preliminary success in the United States. In response to the US Commission on Ocean Policy's recommendations, many of the coastal states in the US initiated interstate regional efforts to develop shared management or action plans.¹⁵⁰ The federal agencies have committed to assist these regional efforts. While the long-term success remains to be assessed, they have been highlighted as one of the bright spots in United States ocean governance reform.¹⁵¹

¹⁴⁵ US Commission on Ocean Policy (2004), p. 77. The Pew Oceans Commission called for the creation of a similar Interagency Oceans Council within the Executive Office of the President. *Pew Oceans Commission Summary Report* (2003), p. 22-23

¹⁴⁶ US Commission on Ocean Policy (2004), p. 79

¹⁴⁷ Executive Order 13366, December 17, 2004. 69 Fed. Reg. 76591, 21 December 2004

¹⁴⁸ Ibid.

¹⁴⁹ Ibid.

¹⁵⁰ The Gulf of Mexico Alliance, a partnership between the five Gulf states and over a dozen federal agencies, released the *Governors' Action Plan for Healthy and Resilient Coasts* in March 2006. The Alliance has completed over 75% of the plan thus far. On the Pacific coast, the Governors of California, Oregon and Washington entered into the West Coast Governors Agreement for Oceans Health in September 2006. A Joint Action plan is scheduled for release in 2008.

¹⁵¹ Joint Ocean Commission Initiative Report Card (2008)

i. Advantages

Improved integration: This approach would address the concern of fractured governance. There would exist a formal, ongoing forum for the various ministries to coordinate their activities in the EEZ. An ongoing forum can also lower the costs for coordination on future issues the structure would already be in place. In addition to the advantages of open dialogue and coordination the opportunity exists for relationships to be built or enhanced between the staffs of various ministries.

Low implementation costs: A whole-of-government approach has low costs in both its creation and its operation. It does not require a lot of money or staff time to have representatives from the ministries get together from time to time, e.g. on a monthly basis. This approach would not require any new laws but could be put in place by government order. The increased coordination may even result in increased efficiencies by identifying duplicated efforts that can be eliminated.

ii. Disadvantages

Lack of substantive progress. Intergovernmental committees have their weaknesses and limitations. Meetings can fail to resolve issues, or create action points for moving forward. This results in additional time obligations on staff with insignificant improvements in coordination.

Lack of accountability. Group committees--government and nongovernment alike-frequently suffer from lack of accountability. Since it is the committee as a whole that is responsible, any one agency or ministry can avoid responsibility and suffer no consequences. This weakness can be overcome by clearly delineating which agency is responsible for each action under set timeframes.

Continuance of statutory "impediments". One of the challenges to managing marine resources derives from the fragmented existing legal framework. The ministries and agencies derive their legal authorities from these laws and are charged with their implementation. A government coordination activity will not address any weaknesses of or conflicts between existing laws.

Lack of stakeholder involvement. A whole-of-government effort does not actively involve the stakeholders. Significant improvements other than increased government coordination are unlikely if the stakeholders are not involved.

No sectoral tradeoffs. A government committee does not facilitate negotiations or relationship building between the various sectors. While whole-of-government efforts can create cooperation between ministries it does not assist in doing the same between sectors.

Possible lack of comprehensive view. Improved coordination of government action does not necessarily result in a comprehensive view. If a joint committee is charged with coordination, it may focus on coordination of ongoing activities and fail to analyse overarching problems or issues. Improved coordination does not necessarily result in improved vision.

'Overlord' Ministry

A more aggressive approach to improving government coordination is to create a ministry or committee that has some level of authority over the other various ministries. For example, in the United States, the Pew Oceans Commission called for the establishment of regional ocean ecosystem councils that would create enforceable regional governance plans that would be binding on all parties.¹⁵² The overlord ministry would require other ministries or departments to comply with an overarching plan and each relevant ministry would be required to adjust its regulations or management to comply with the overlord ministry's direction. This approach would require a new law to empower a ministry with these new authorities and direction. It would also probably require amendments to various statutes to ensure consistency across the legal structure.

i. Advantages

Comprehensive view. Granting one agency the responsibility of improved government coordination and the authority to achieve it could result in a comprehensive, cross-ministry view, improve coordination, and facilitate integration. The overlord ministry would not be constrained by the sector-by-sector management that characterises the current governance.

Improved integration. Integration and coordination of government activities would likely improve. With the authority to direct all of the relevant ministries, the overlord ministry could maneuver the puzzle pieces of sectoral management to fit together into a rational whole. The potential problem of recalcitrant ministries would also be overcome because the overlord ministry would have the authority to require compliance..

Prevents state "capture". An overlord ministry would also not be as susceptible to "capture" by the regulated community. Capture occurs when the sector that the ministry regulates has too much influence over the ministry's decisions.¹⁵³ The overlord ministry would not be regulating any one sector but directing the relevant agencies. Because numerous sectors would be involved, one sector would be much less likely to inappropriately influence the overlord ministry.

ii. Disadvantages

High costs to create and implement. The costs to create an overlord approach would likely be prohibitive for a couple of reasons. The first costs would be process costs. This strategy would require the passage of a new law and amendments to a number of other laws. The passage of new laws is usually a laborious, time-consuming process. The second type of creation costs would be political. Some of the ministries and their stakeholders may resist becoming subordinate to an overlord ministry and may use their political capital to try to prevent its creation. Overcoming these vested interests would probably be difficult. After the costs of creating the overlord ministry, there would also be operational costs. The new overlord ministry would require significant

¹⁵² Pew Oceans Commission Summary Report (2003), p. 21

¹⁵³ Grafton (2000), p. 508

new capacity and funding. Even assuming the overlord ministry would be housed in an existing ministry, the new overarching responsibilities would require significant new staff and funding to achieve the goals.

Additional layer of bureaucracy. Another layer of bureaucracy could lead to less effective decision-making and decreased government efficiency. Giving an overlord ministry broad decision-making powers means decisions will be made at a level of government that is further removed from the sectors affected by decisions. The lack of specialisation and increased distance could result in unintended consequences because the overlord ministry might not completely comprehend the nuances and ramifications of its decisions. An additional layer of bureaucracy could also result in decreased government efficiency because relevant government actions would have to go through another level of approval.

No sectoral tradeoffs. The overlord approach would allow the ministry to consider tradeoffs between sectors, but it would not create a mechanism for the sectors to do it themselves. In other words, all of the tradeoff decisions would be housed in the overlord ministry. A better approach would be to allow the different sectors to work it out amongst themselves if they can.

Area-based Governance Strategies

There is a rising call for area or place-based management of the oceans.¹⁵⁴ These proponents view area-based strategies as a way to overcome spatial and temporal mismatches¹⁵⁵, accommodate the heterogeneity of the full suite of ocean uses¹⁵⁶, tailor management to on-the-ground circumstances, and offer a way to deal with the inherent uncertainties of managing the marine environment.¹⁵⁷ All types of area-based management necessarily have a spatial focus but there are multiple ways to utilise this strategy.

For the purposes of this report I will adopt the definition of "place based management" used by Young et al as "a strategy that calls for integrated management of the full suite of human activities occurring in spatially demarcated areas identified through a procedure that takes into account biophysical, socioeconomic, and jurisdictional considerations."¹⁵⁸ This report will use the terms "place-based management" and "area-based management" interchangeably.

This report defines "marine spatial planning" as "a forward-looking, comprehensive planning process that analyses current and future spatial uses of the marine environment." This definition differs from some existing definitions.¹⁵⁹ Other

¹⁵⁴ See, Young (2007), Norse (2005), Eagle (2008), Ehler (2007)

¹⁵⁵ Crowder (2006), p. 618

¹⁵⁶ Norse (2005), p. 432

¹⁵⁷ Young (2007), p. 22

¹⁵⁸ Ibid.

¹⁵⁹ See e.g. Ehler (2007), p. 13 which defines marine spatial planning as "a process for analyzing and allocating parts of three-dimensional marine spaces to specific uses, to achieve ecological, economic, and social objectives that are usually specified through the political process; the MSP process usually results in a comprehensive plan or vision for a marine region." The United Kingdom's Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) has defined it as "a strategic plan for regulating,

definitions incorporate the actual allocation of space into the definition of marine spatial planning. The definition used in this report decouples the planning from the regulatory action. Once space is allocated pursuant to a marine spatial plan then the term "ocean zoning" will be used. This report adopts UNESCO's definition of "ocean zoning", which is "a regulatory measure to implement marine spatial planning usually consisting of a zoning map and regulations for some or all areas of a marine region."¹⁶⁰

Marine Spatial Planning

Uses of the ocean are increasing and that trend will continue in the future. Many of these uses do not create conflict, that is multiple uses can take place in the same area. Recreational fishing and submarine cables, for example, can use the same location with no significant conflict. However, some uses will conflict. For example, if large underwater turbines or an offshore windfarm were located in prime fishing grounds, they could conflict with commercial fishing. The problem is the ad hoc nature of the allocation of space in the oceans. Since marine resources have been allocated by separate ministries under different statutes, the ministries do not have a complete picture of how their allocation of resources relates to the allocations of other ministries and whether they conflict.

Marine spatial planning can help identify and analyse issues of conflict by supplying a spatial analysis of current and future uses of the marine environment and the level of potential conflict between the uses.¹⁶¹ Marine spatial planning can help rationalise the allocation of marine resources so the regulating authorities are no longer in a position of being wholly reactionary and they can make better informed decisions.

i. Are the Conditions Ripe?

It is first necessary to determine whether or not the conditions warrant the use of marine spatial planning. Marine spatial planning helps to rationalise the allocation of marine space.¹⁶² If an area is not heavily used and use patterns are not expected to significantly change, there is little need to implement marine spatial planning. Its use to date is limited to areas of dense use,¹⁶³ where the potential benefits are increased. It should be noted, however, that implementing spatial planning and management will be less contentious when use is lower.

In New Zealand's EEZ, the conditions are probably not ripe for marine spatial planning because it is not an area of dense use. The area is vast and the conflicts are few. As renewable energy, aquaculture, oil and gas development, and mining activities grow, hotspots of use may arise that warrant some rationalisation of space allocation. The need for marine spatial planning will probably arise in the territorial sea sooner than in the EEZ because there are more existing uses and growth will occur faster in the territorial sea.

managing and protecting the marine environment that addresses the multiple, cumulative, and potentially conflicting uses of the sea.' Tyldesley (2004), p 4 ¹⁶⁰ Ehler (2007), p. 13

¹⁶¹ See Douvere (2007), p. 185

¹⁶² Ehler (2007), p. 24

¹⁶³ For example, the Belgian part of the North Sea is "one of the most exploited areas in the world." Douvere (2007), p. 185

ii. How Would Marine Spatial Planning Work?

The first step in marine spatial planning is to determine the spatial scale and boundaries the plan will cover. It can be massive (e.g. Great Barrier Reef) or much smaller (e.g. Belgian part of the North Sea). The area does not need to perfectly align with ecosystem boundaries but it should take ecosystems into account. The most appropriate area will be where there is an intersection of current and short term future uses, conflict between those uses, and significant impacts on ecosystems or resources.

Once a planning area has been determined the next step is to map the resources and the current uses to determine the current state of affairs. The map can be a strong exhibit of the failure of an ad hoc approach.¹⁶⁴ The visualisation of all uses on one map can be a powerful tool for regulators because they can put their individual decisions into a more comprehensive context.

Concurrent with the mapping of the resources and uses, an analysis should be conducted of the level of conflict between uses. Not all uses will conflict with each other. It is probably sufficient to compare all uses with each other and categorise the level of conflict as high (cannot operate in the same space), medium (can operate in the same space with some regulation of activity), or low (can operate in the same space without regulation of activity).

Based on the map of resources, current uses, and potential conflicts, both the regulators and the regulated community can make more informed decisions about where to place new activities. Project review and approval will become a simpler process. With the various sectors making decisions based on shared information, conflicts will likely be reduced.

Government agencies can also use the map to do some future planning. Informal agreements or understandings can be struck between government agencies where some accord is reached on what areas are most appropriate for various uses. Given that these agreements would not have legal authority, applicants would not be bound by them. Applicants could apply for a use in an area that would conflict with current uses and those applications would be reviewed under existing law. However, if an unused site is appropriate for the project, applicants are inclined to pursue that space because they know their application will be less likely to be contentious. Even though lacking legal rule, this sort of "soft law" approach can be effective.

iii. Advantages

Comprehensive view. Marine spatial planning provides a comprehensive, integrated view of both the uses and resources. This helps to address the weakness of fractured, sectoral management.

Proactive. Areas of potentially high use or conflict are identified allowing more aggressive management strategies to be considered for those areas. Marine spatial planning can help identify priority areas for management action as well as help define the problems or conflicts that need to be solved.

¹⁶⁴ See Ehler (2007), p. 61

Reduces conflicts. Conflicts are reduced by giving parties information to avoid them. If a project applicant has identified multiple viable site locations, the applicant will choose the site that it believes has the greatest chance for regulatory approval. Part of that consideration includes which interested parties will be negatively affected and what resources will be impacted. A marine spatial plan provides this information.

Assists in project siting. Appropriate areas for development are identified to encourage beneficial uses while protecting sensitive resources. If a country wants to pursue offshore renewable energy projects, by providing a map of current uses and sensitive resources the government can encourage projects to be developed in a particular area.

Information efficiency. The collection of data about uses and resources in one place is helpful to numerous agencies as they make their regulatory decisions. It can result in cost efficiencies by reducing duplication of efforts among government agencies.¹⁶⁵

Low political costs. Because it does not have the force of law, the marine spatial planning process can be conducted without creating new laws.¹⁶⁶ It can be achieved through political will and some additional resources. However the plan may meet with some stakeholder resistance (which leads to the disadvantages of this approach).

iv. Disadvantages

No legal force: If a plan does not have any legal force, it can be ignored or subject to the vagaries of the political climate. If the marine spatial plan is created without high-level political support or the political support disappears then it could have little or no influence. If agencies ignore the plan then the fractured, cross-sectoral governance approach will continue.

High implementation costs. While the political implementation costs may be low, the actual implementation costs of staff time and monetary resources needed to obtain the data and information for the plan could be high. In the context of the EEZ, a complete picture of the impacted resources is unrealistic given its size, depth, and the mobility of many of the resources. The human use assessment data is not often available at a scale appropriate for management decisions. Given the current level of limited uses of the EEZ, however, a human use assessment is achievable. The best way to proceed given these limitations is to make the best plan possible given the existing data and then prioritise future data collection.

No mechanism for tradeoffs. Although it would assist sectors in avoiding conflicts, there would not be a formal mechanism for the sectors to negotiate with each other. It also fails to provide parties with any indication of their relative negotiating positions. Would existing uses always be given precedence? Would some new uses be encouraged? The plan in and of itself would not answer these questions, which could make it difficult for interested parties to negotiate resolutions among themselves.

¹⁶⁵ Ehler (2007), p.27.

¹⁶⁶ See Douvere (2007), p. 186

Ocean Zoning Without Property Interests

The next level of spatial management gives a marine spatial plan force through ocean zoning.¹⁶⁷ Zoning can come with or without an attached property interest.¹⁶⁸ This section will address government-designated zones that do not have any property interests attached to the zones. Zones with a property interest will be addressed under the market mechanisms section.

Zoning can be used to control and distribute human activities across space and time.¹⁶⁹ It can reduce conflict, uncertainty and costs by separating conflicting uses and specifying how particular areas may be used.¹⁷⁰ Zoning has been used for decades around the world in the terrestrial context. For example, many communities pass zoning regulations to limit or prohibit the development of large industrial sites in residential areas. Zoning is a way to ensure that conflicting uses of land are separated in a rational way. Many proponents are now calling for a similar approach to the ocean.

Comprehensive zoning would require enabling legislation.¹⁷¹ This legislation would need to outline the principles to which the zoning plan must adhere. Without legislative guidance on the principles, allocation would be very difficult because each sector would be working for their greatest benefit.¹⁷²

There are two approaches to zoning: piecemeal and comprehensive.¹⁷³ A piecemeal approach creates zones for discrete purposes as it goes along. A recent example from New Zealand is the process for Aquaculture Management Areas.¹⁷⁴ The Resource Management (Aquaculture Moratorium) Amendment Act 2002 imposed a moratorium on aquaculture consents to provide the Regional Councils with the opportunity to designate aquaculture management areas and areas where aquaculture would be prohibited.¹⁷⁵ Zones for other uses were not created during this process. This approach does not have many of the advantages of comprehensive zoning because it maintains the sectoral approach to management. This report will focus on comprehensive zoning.

Comprehensive zoning means that all of the presently known uses and non-uses are allocated ocean zones at the same time. This does not mean that all of the EEZ would be zoned at the same time. Development of the oceans will be denser in some areas so comprehensive zoning could be undertaken in areas where conflicts are occurring or are anticipated.

¹⁶⁷ Young (2007), p. 26

¹⁶⁸ I specifically use the term 'property interest' and not 'property right.' The government holds sovereign rights of the EEZ for the benefit of the people. Unless a property right is specifically and explicitly created by government, no one person has a 'right' to the use of the EEZ.

¹⁶⁹Young (2007), p. 26

¹⁷⁰ Norse (2005), p. 432

¹⁷¹ Eagle (2008) p. 21

¹⁷² Ibid. p. 22

¹⁷³ Norse (2005), p. 436

¹⁷⁴ See the Resource Management (Aquaculture Moratorium) Amendment Act 2002, and Aquaculture Reform (Repeals and Transitional Provisions) Act 2004.

¹⁷⁵ Resource Management (Aquaculture Moratorium) Amendment Act 2002, Part 1, Section 3

Comprehensive ocean zoning allocates ocean space to all of the uses and designates areas of non-use within a designated area at the same time. The most famous example of comprehensive ocean zoning is the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park (GBRMP).¹⁷⁶ The zoning plan for the GBRMP zones all 344,000 km² of the park. The four major zones for the marine park are:¹⁷⁷

- General Use: allows all reasonable uses
- Conservation Park: allows for limited fishing, trawling, and collecting
- Protection: prohibits trawling
- Marine National Park: no-take zone; prohibits all fishing and collecting¹⁷⁸

All of the zones are spatially defined and rules exist for each of the different types of zone. It should be noted that the ultimate purpose for the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park is the conservation of the reef. Uses are allowed but conservation of the reef is the guiding force for the zoning plan. In most areas of the ocean, the conservation goal will not be as prominent. Conservation will be one among many goals.

i. General Types of Zoning

Two of the basic building blocks to zoning are the dominant use zone¹⁷⁹ and the multiple use zone.¹⁸⁰ A dominant use zone designates one use as the priority for that zone. Regulators can allow other uses of the zone as long as it does not impede the priority use.¹⁸¹ Multiple use zones are areas where a number of different compatible activities are allowed. While the designations and rules controlling zones are numerous and varied, they will generally fall within one of these two types of zones.¹⁸²

Dominant Use Zones

Dominant use zones create an unvested property interest for the designated sector as a whole, and provide the various sectors with some certainty about their respective legal rights within that zone.¹⁸³ For example, if an oil and gas company wanted to develop within a commercial fishing zone, the company would have to achieve agreement with the fishing interests in the zone. Both parties would understand that the onus is on the oil and gas company to meet the demands of the fishing interests. This works the same way if the positions are reversed. If commercial fishing wants to fish in an oil and gas zone then it will be the fishing interests having to meet the demands of oil and gas. It should be noted that a dominant "use" can be a non-use value such as conservation.

¹⁷⁶ See Fernandes (2005)

¹⁷⁷ There are four other types of zones in the park but they make up less than 5% of the park. Zoning in the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park (2007)

¹⁷⁸ Zoning in the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park (2007)

¹⁷⁹ Eagle (2008), p. 8. The most extreme form of a dominant use zone is an exclusive use zone that allows for one use but excludes all others. For example, a no-entry zone around a high security military installation.

¹⁸⁰ Young (2007), pp. 27-28 ¹⁸¹ Ibid.

¹⁸² These two general categories are for explanatory purposes. Zones exist along a continuum between these two categories, and they do not necessarily fall into one category or the other.

¹⁸³ Eagle (2008), p. 8

Government would have the authority to override the dominant use sector if they thought the proposed second use was compatible or that the dominant use sector was being unreasonable in its demands. The dominant use sector would have some protection pursuant to the law so if a ministry chose to approve a conflicting use within the zone then the aggrieved sector would have the opportunity to appeal that government decision. If the government acted within their authority pursuant to the law then the sector would not have a claim to any remedy from the government.

Multiple Use Zones

A multiple use zone allows for compatible activities to occur in the same space. Given the range of uses in the oceans this zone will likely be the most prevalent and of broadest use. The category of multiple use zones encompasses many permutations, and can be configured in a number of different ways, such as:

- Allowing all uses except for explicitly defined prohibited activities;
- Listing a number of different allowed uses without setting any priority between them;
- Prioritising a suite of different uses so some uses are deemed subordinate to others; and
- Allowing for a number of uses and developing a suite of criteria for conflict resolution.

The flexibility of multiple use zones can be a real advantage because it allows the regulators to carefully tailor the zones to management needs.¹⁸⁴ The flexibility must be tempered with the need for simplicity or users will find it difficult to comply.¹⁸⁵

For ocean zoning it is critical that the public be actively and meaningfully involved in the creation of the zoning scheme.¹⁸⁶ If the stakeholders are involved and believe the process is fair they are more likely to accept the outcome.¹⁸⁷ This is important to ensure high rates of compliance.¹⁸⁸

ii. Advantages

Improves integration. Comprehensive zoning is cross-sectoral; by considering all uses it provides for them to fit together in a rational whole. Lack of integration is one of the major weaknesses of current governance which comprehensive ocean zoning can directly overcome.

Enables tradeoffs. Because this approach is supported by regulations it allows for and encourages tradeoffs between sectors both during development and after the zoning scheme is in place.¹⁸⁹ Tradeoffs during development can create regulatory efficiencies by rewarding appropriate projects within zones with reduced regulatory review. For

¹⁸⁴ In the United States, the National Marine Sanctuaries are a good example of multiple use zoning.

¹⁸⁵ Day (2002), p. 147

¹⁸⁶ Fernandes (2005), p. 1742

¹⁸⁷ Young (2007), p. 28

¹⁸⁸ Ibid.

¹⁸⁹ Ibid. p. 27. See also, Halpern (2007), p. 8

example, an oil and gas dominant zone is created. This would create an assumption that as long as the oil and gas development meets international best practice standards then it can move forward. The regulatory review time for these projects could be reduced and a higher level of certainty for approval ensured, an important factor for business investment decisions. Environmental concerns would be decreased because they would have been at the table during the development of the zoning scheme and conservation goals would have been incorporated into the regime. After the zoning plan is in place, negotiations between sectors are enhanced by clarification of the rules for making decisions between sectors. Although a property interest does not vest, zoning can give the different sectors more certainty in what their relative positions are within zones.

Accounts for non-use values. Ocean zoning is one of the few strategies that allow for the tradeoff between use and non-use values. In the United States and New Zealand, ocean uses are increasing but ocean conservation appears to be lagging behind.¹⁹⁰ With zoning, increasing ocean use and enhancing conservation are considered together.

Proactive. Ocean zoning is proactive and forward-looking, allowing for thoughtful planning toward rational goals. Currently, use is piled on top of use with very little (or no) thought given to what is the desired state. Ocean zoning allows a society to decide on rational goals and implement a framework to achieve those goals.

Participatory process. The development of ocean zoning allows for society to engage in a debate about the various uses, their relative importance and then make allowances for all of those uses and non-use values in a comprehensive plan.¹⁹¹ This approach can improve stakeholder buy-in and compliance with the plan.¹⁹²

May address temporal mismatches. Proponents of ocean zoning also suggest that it will address temporal mismatches between biological systems and human interventions.¹⁹³ This may be the case to some degree but I do not think this is one of zoning's greatest advantages. The ability to match temporal scales is probably derived from the laborious process necessary to create a comprehensive zoning plan.

iii. Disadvantages

Does not address some important issues. Even proponents recognise that ocean zoning would not be a panacea.¹⁹⁴ Some commentators have suggested that ocean zoning would address the spatial mismatches between scales of ecosystems and governance regimes.¹⁹⁵ I do not think zoning will overcome the most critical spatial mismatches because ocean zoning will not adequately address threats that defy spatial restraint, such as land-based impacts, invasive species or some cases of over-fishing. Zoning would not obviate the need to regulate these impacts. In fact, some of the

¹⁹⁰ There are some exceptions to this general trend. In June 2006, for example, President George W Bush created Papahanaumokuakea Marine National Monument, the largest marine conservation area in the world at that time.

¹⁹¹ Young (2007), p. 28

¹⁹² Ibid.

¹⁹³ Crowder (2006), p. 618

¹⁹⁴ See Norse (2005), p. 439

¹⁹⁵ Crowder (2006), p. 618

greatest impacts on the oceans are from land-based sources.¹⁹⁶ It would be difficult for ocean zoning to address over-fishing, given the political clout of fishing interests.It may limit the area and manner where fishing can occur, but would not reduce the overall catch.

High implementation costs. Development of a comprehensive scheme of ocean zoning will have extremely high implementation costs. For the government, it requires enabling legislation, staff capacity and resources to run the process, and significant data and information over a number of years. It will require the stakeholders to invest significant time and resources to engage in the process, with no guarantee that the process will be successful.¹⁹⁷

High political hurdles. Comprehensive ocean zoning will be difficult to accomplish because powerful vested interests exist in the status quo.¹⁹⁸ These interests include sector representatives, special interests, and individual government agencies. Any sector that currently has an advantage through the current *ad hoc* approach will want it to continue. Overcoming these vested interests would be extremely difficult.

Market Mechanisms for Improved Governance

Hardin saw the solutions to the "tragedy of the commons" resulting from either government action or privatisation of the resource. Privatisation is a "decentralized approach which endeavors to create exclusive, private, and transferable rights over the flow ... of CPRs."¹⁹⁹. This section will address the second of Hardin's proposed solutions: privatisation via market mechanisms.²⁰⁰

Discussions about privatising public resources tend to be controversial.²⁰¹ The proponents of privatisation say that market mechanisms remove the perverse incentives of the commons by providing incentives to manage the resource for longterm sustainability.²⁰² According to its advocates, market mechanisms lead to the most efficient and beneficial use of the resources.²⁰³ Opponents to privatisation, on the other hand, believe that privatising public resources would violate the public trust and that market approaches are unable to appropriately account for all of the use and nonuse values of society.²⁰⁴ The ideal solution for privatisation would be to create and distribute property rights in such a way that increases efficient use of the resources, limits access to the resources to a sustainable level, and provides market incentives for conservation and other non-use values.²⁰⁵

¹⁹⁶ Halpern (2008), p. 950

¹⁹⁷ See Weible (2004) and his discussion of the multiple efforts to develop a system of marine protected areas along California's central coast.

¹⁹⁸ Young (2007), pp. 30-31

¹⁹⁹ Grafton (2000), p. 504

²⁰⁰ Mansfield (2004), p. 314 argues that "privatization and marketization are not the same thing."

²⁰¹ Tietenberg (2002), p. 198. Tietenberg hypothesises that the controversy stems from the allocation of wealth of a public resource, the incomplete internalisation of the externalities, and the ideological belief that since capitalist property rights are the cause of the problem they cannot be the source of the resolution.

²⁰² Yandle (2007), p.27 ²⁰³ Mansfield (2004), p. 313

²⁰⁴ See Osherenko (2006)

²⁰⁵ Mansfield (2004), p. 319. Another goal is reducing over-capitalisation in the market.

Tradable Environmental Allowances

One of the more widely-used market-based mechanisms in the environmental context is Tradable Environmental Allowances (TEAs), a market-based system that "define a limit to environmental withdrawals or emissions and permit free trade of allocated allowances under those limits."²⁰⁶ TEA regimes are often used for "cap and trade" systems to limit greenhouse gas emissions. TEAs are not limited to pollution. In fact, New Zealand has been a world leader of a market-based approach to fisheries management.

In 1986 New Zealand instituted a system of Individual Transferable Quotas (ITQs), a market-based system of property rights to manage its fisheries.²⁰⁷ Under this system the Quota Management System (QMS) was created. The purpose of the QMS is to ensure sustainable fisheries and promote economic efficiency in the fishing industry.²⁰⁸ Before catch limits were set, management areas were selected for each species.²⁰⁹ Each fish species in the QMS was divided into Quota Management Areas (QMAs), each of which is managed independently.²¹⁰ A Total Allowable Commercial Catch (TACC) is set annually for each commercial species within a QMA based on maximum sustainable yield.²¹¹ The QMS created rights to harvest a percentage of a specified commercial species in a specified area during one fishing year. The quotas are an asset that can be sold or leased. This system is designed to allow market pressures to create incentives for sustainability and greater efficiency.²¹²

The QMS, however, is of limited application. It only applies to commercial fish species. It does not include all of the marine resources of the EEZ. It does not address spatial conflicts. ITQs grant a property right to extract a certain amount of fish in a general region; but do not grant the holder any explicit spatial property rights.²¹³ Market strategies do exist (in theory at least) that would encompass the full suite of marine resources and address spatial conflicts between different sectors.

TEAs can work for the resource subject to the allowance but it can leave other resources unprotected.²¹⁴ In the context of EEZ it would be difficult to allocate TEAs across the board, especially as a common currency between the various resources does not exist. For example, equating numbers of fish to minerals extracted is theoretically possible but practically speaking not useful. Also, other than arguably for some species of fish, the governance challenges in the EEZ do not derive from overextraction but potential conflicts between uses.

²⁰⁶ Dietz (2003), p. 1909.

²⁰⁷ Lock (2007), p. 9.

²⁰⁸ Ibid.

²⁰⁹ Ibid. p. 3

²¹⁰ Ibid.

²¹¹ Ibid. p. 8

²¹² Ibid. p. 1

²¹³ Even though they do not hold an explicit spatial property right, fishing interests can argue that a conflicting use or nonuse in a particular area would 'unduly interfere' with their interests. Fisheries Act 1996, Section (5)(6)(c) ²¹⁴ Lock (2007)

Ocean Zoning with Property Interests

This section discusses ocean zoning as a privatisation regime for improving governance. The primary distinction between the government mechanism and the market mechanism is that a property interest vests with the market mechanism. Ocean zoning in a privatised framework does not mean alienation, and does not entail government selling the ocean.²¹⁵ It grants some exclusive, alienable rights to private parties, be they individuals, sectors, or groups. The closest land-based analogy would be a long-term lease in real estate.

The first step to privatisation of a commons resource such as the EEZ is that government must create the market. Since the EEZ is currently a common pool resource where very limited spatial property rights exist, the government would have to create the market of property rights. To design a new system of property rights, fundamental design issues must be addressed.²¹⁶ These include:

- flexibility/divisibility: whether rights holder can lease part or all of the rights; •
- exclusivity: whether rights holder can exclude others; •
- quality of title: whether it is a right to all the resources or a proportional share; •
- duration: life term of the right and whether a preference exists for renewal; and
- transferability: basis for initial vesting; whether there are limits on transferability.²¹⁷

How Would Zoning with Property Interests Work?

A private property zoning regime could be created pursuant to these five property characteristics. This report will focus on two general types of zones: dominant (including exclusive)-use zones and multiple use zones. The choice of the type of zone for a particular area would ideally be accomplished by government development of a comprehensive plan. Under this plan, conservation and cultural zones would need to be created and set aside first because non-use values are not adequately protected in a market-based regime.²¹⁸ Dominant use zones would be used primarily to protect existing uses or to encourage development of particular resources in specific areas. Multiple use zones would allow for the market to determine what would be the most economically efficient use of the zone. For both types of zones, the interests would probably have to be of long-term duration, i.e. a minimum of 20 years, to provide enough certainty for the buyer.

Dominant use zones could be vested in one individual, sector or group. For example, the government could decide to designate four types of dominant use zones: commercial fishing, oil and gas, seabed minerals, and conservation zones. The government could then decide whether the zone would be granted to the sector as a whole or auctioned to individuals. Given the existing ITQ market for fisheries and the mobility of these resources, it is most appropriate for the fishing dominant zones to

²¹⁵ Countries are not able to alienate the EEZ to private parties because they do not own it. International law grants nations "sovereign rights" to develop and conserve, but it does not grant sovereignty. In the United States, alienating the territorial sea would likely violate the public trust. See, Osherenko (2006). ²¹⁶ Guerin (2003), p.5 ²¹⁷ Ibid. p. 14

²¹⁸ Hanna (1996), p. 43

vest in the entire fishing sector. For nonmobile resources such as minerals and oil and gas, it would be more appropriate to auction those zones to the highest bidder and have the property interest vest in one entity. Control over conservation zones could be granted to the environmental sector, i.e. a consortium of environmental NGOs.

A series of multiple use zones could also be created by auctioning off with no particular use set as the dominant use. An auction would be held for the zones and the winner of the auction would have the rights to that zone, subject to other laws and regulations.

This regime would not necessarily mean that all EEZ space would be auctioned. Government could choose to do that but given the uncertainties of a new "market" it would be prudent for most of the EEZ to remain unzoned. If, however, someone wanted to propose a use for an unzoned area then the government could choose to expand the zoned area via an open auction for that area, or decline to put additional zones in the market. If the government did not proceed this way, the market would be undermined because new users could go to the government instead of the marketplace.

It should be noted that under a private property regime Maori rights would need to be accounted for and respected. Given their legal rights and cultural interests, Maori would likely have a claim to at least a portion EEZ resources and the government income derived from them.

The zone rights holder would have the right to develop, exclude, and to sell. In a dominant use, the zone rights holder would be limited to developing that zone for the dominant use. Any development would also be subject to the relevant laws regulating that use. With some limited exceptions, such as rights to navigation and submarine cables, the zone rights holder would have the right to exclude other users.²¹⁹ The dominant zone rights holder could sell their right to another user but the zone would still be subject to the dominant use.

For a multiple use zone, the zone rights holder could develop the zone subject to the law and regulations for whichever use was pursued. A multiple use zone would permit but not require the rights holder to allow for multiple uses. If the uses conflict, the users' recourse would be to the zone rights holder (not the government) under whatever agreement the parties had signed amongst themselves.

The government could deny application for a use that did not comply with existing laws. The risk involved in the chance of government approval would ostensibly be addressed by the parties in their negotiations and reflected in the price. If there was a violation within the zone, the government could pursue both the user and the zone rights holder, and could revoke the zone rights. This means the zone holder would have an incentive to ensure user compliance. After the initial auction, the government would collect no rents or royalties; they would go to the rights holder.

²¹⁹ UNCLOS III, Part V, Article 58, Section 1 maintains all nations' right to freedom of navigation and the right to lay cable and pipelines in the EEZ.

The ITQ system of fishery management would stay in place, but the quota holders would have to respect the property rights of zone holders. There would be a layering of the ITQ system with the spatial rights of the zoning regime. If the fishing industry believed it did not have enough fishing dominant zones, it could purchase more rights in multiple use zones, either by purchasing the zone rights or by entering into agreements with the zone right holders.

The zones create an interest in real property and would have value in the marketplace. It is not clear, however, that anyone buy zones at a price that resulted in a "fair" return to the public. There would probably be a limited number of bidders, and the high level of uncertainty as to the benefits of purchase means the prices could initially be low. This woul leave the risk of valuation in a new market on the government, which means the public good could suffer.

This zoning regime would probably achieve greater market efficiency. By allowing zone holders to buy and sell their rights and enter into agreement about the use of the zones, the rights of use would end up in the hands of those who valued it most.

It is doubtful, however, that this sort of zoning regime would promote nonuse values, such as conservation goals or cultural values. For nonrenewable resources, the zone rights holder will have incentive to remove all the valuable resources if it can be done in a cost effective manner. The issue becomes how the resource is extracted and what the long and short-term effects are of the extraction. For example, the rights holder in a mineral rich zone such as a seamount may not be at all concerned with detrimental effects on biodiversity or on fish stocks. In the realm of renewable resources, the primary resource at issue for the foreseeable future is fishing stocks, and the ITQ system manages these resources. This zoning regime would not create any new incentives for sustainability that do not already exist.

Advantages

Enables tradeoffs. One of the main advantages of a private zoning approach is that it allows for tradeoffs between sectors on a direct basis. Negotiations can be conducted and terms reached without need for a government intermediary. This will lead to greater economic efficiency because the right to use the resource go to the individual who values it most economically.

Increases innovation. Markets reward innovation and this system would allow individuals to be rewarded for their innovation. For example, if someone develops technology to extract deep seabed minerals more affordably then they will be able to buy out the zone rights of less efficient mineral developers. Private parties in the marketplace are also very creative in structuring deals that are mutually beneficial to each party.

Adaptable. Democratic governments will never be as nimble or adaptable as markets because they are not designed to be. A private zoning regime allows for uses to change over time as market benefits change. If a zone being used for minerals becomes more marketable as a site for renewable energy development then the parties can enter into an agreement to change the use in a short period of time via buyouts.

Sharing of compliance activities. This regime would take some of the pressure off government for enforcement activities. The zone rights holder would have an incentive to ensure users' compliance or his rights to the zone could be revoked. Government would still have to do monitoring and compliance but incentives would exist for someone to share in that task. Many disputes or conflicts would be resolved between private parties. The retreat of government, however, can be problematic which leads us to the disadvantages.

Disadvantages

Possible decrease in public good. If government relinquishes some of its decisionmaking power to the marketplace then the general public interest may suffer because no one is looking to protect it. A market-based regime works on the principle that everyone looking out for their own best interest leads to the greatest economic good overall—Adam Smith's famous "invisible hand".²²⁰ However, greatest economic good does not always equate to the greatest public good.

Abrogation of trust responsibility. Granting extensive privatised rights in the marine resources of the EEZ may be an abrogation of the trustee responsibility for the resource the government holds under national and international law.

Lack of comprehensive view. Even though the regime would allow for tradeoffs between sectors, each government ministry would continue to regulate the uses for which they were responsible. While the zoning regime would need some upfront strategic planning, the benefits of the market (such as adaptability, flexibility, innovation) are maximised if the market is allowed to work toward the greatest economic efficiency. This necessarily means that a comprehensive vision becomes difficult because it is the collective actions of numerous individuals that control the direction.

Does not adequately account for non-use values. Non-use and non-market values fare poorly in a market-based system.²²¹ There might be some incentives for conservation tourist zones, but the incentives would in all likelihood not result in conservation zones large enough to protect biodiversity To ensure that non-use values were protected, conservation, cultural or similar zones would need to be set aside as a first step in developing the zoning regime.

High implementation costs. Creation of a new system of private property rights in the EEZ would be costly. A new law would have to be passed, likely against strong opposition.²²² If the law passed there would be planning to be done, conservation zones to be created, numerous consultations with stakeholders, and then a process

²²⁰ Smith (1991), Book IV, Chapter 2, p. 399. "As every individual, therefore, endeavours as much as he can both to employ his capital in the support of domestic industry, and so to direct that industry that its produce may be of the greatest value; every individual necessarily labours to render the annual revenue of the society as great as he can. He generally, indeed, neither intends to promote the public interest, nor knows how much he is promoting it. By preferring the support of domestic to that of foreign industry, he intends only his own security; and by directing that industry in such a manner as its produce may be of greatest value, he intends only his own gain, and he is in this, as in many other cases, led by an invisible hand to promote an end which was no part of his intention." ²²¹ Hanna (1996), p. 43

²²² See, Young (2007), who argues that zoning may be accomplished without new laws.

created to auction the zone rights. Creating an entire new market where one did not exist before would be a very large undertaking.

Difficult to Undo. Once property interests are created and purchased, they can be difficult to rescind or buy back. If the government decided that they no longer wanted a private property regime for the EEZ they might not be able to roll it back. This strategy will make adaptive management more difficult because it is predicated on the zone rights holders making many of the decisions.

Does not address some important issues. Zoning does not address non-spatial challenges, such as invasive species. Regulatory frameworks addressing those issues would still need to be maintained.

Co-Management Mechanism for Improved Governance

Hardin outlined two solutions for the "tragedy of the commons": government intervention or privatisation.²²³ As discussed in Chapter 2, it is now recognised that Hardin's proposed solutions were too limited. Many examples of successful management of common pool resources have been identified that do not involve government regulation or privatisation, but involve communities managing the resource themselves or communities working with government to manage the resource.²²⁴ Co-management is government and communities working together. It is a "sharing of responsibilities, rights and duties between the primary stakeholders, in particular, local communities and the nation state; a decentralized approach to decision-making that involves the local users in the decision-making process as equals with the nation-state."²²⁵ Examples of co-management exist along a continuum from government simply seeking extensive community consultation to government ceding decision-making.

New Zealand Example of Co-management

Co-management as a governance regime can probably best be understood through a successful New Zealand example, the Fiordland Marine Guardians. In December 1995 a group of citizens in the Fiordland region created a group to address concerns about issues affecting Fiordland's fisheries and the marine environment.²²⁶ The group believed that these issues could be resolved best at the local level.²²⁷ They chose their members based on their commitment to the resource, their willingness to work with others, and the ability to invest time in the effort.²²⁸ After years of work and with extensive stakeholder input, the Guardians finalised their Fiordland Marine Conservation Strategy in October 2003 and presented it to the Minister of Fisheries and the Minister for the Environment.²²⁹ Following consultation, the Government, agreed to develop special legislation to give effect to the Conservation Strategy. The

²²³ Hardin (1968)

²²⁴ See Ostrom (1990)

²²⁵ Report from the International Workshop on Community-based Natural Resource Management (CBNRM), Washington DC, 10-14 May 1998, p. 11

²²⁶ Guardians of Fiordland's Fisheries & Marine Environment Inc (2003), p. 19

²²⁷ Ibid.

²²⁸ Ibid.

²²⁹ Fiordland Marine Guardians Website, http://www.fmg.org.nz/index.php?p=story (Retrieved 16 April 2008.)

Fiordland (Te Moana o Atawhenua) Marine Management Act passed in 2005 with little opposition. The Act requires the relevant government agencies to take the Guardians' advice and recommendations into account when making decisions.²³⁰ The Fiordland Marine Area is now co-managed by the government agencies and the Guardians.

Co-management is primarily envisioned as a strategy for resource management at the local level.²³¹ There are many lessons to be learned from these community efforts, but the extent to which these lessons can be scaled up to a commons the size of New Zealand's EEZ is an open question. Can co-management be used on larger scales or multiple scales, and transcend community-based management? In particular, is it a viable strategy for New Zealand's EEZ?

Relevant Factors

A co-management regime could theoretically be created for some of the EEZ. Government would most likely initiate the effort by calling for representatives from the various sectors to come together to discuss a co-management regime for a portion of the EEZ. The area proposed for co-management would probably be an area where the potential for conflicting uses is imminent or where uses will conflict with non-use values in sensitive areas. At the initial stakeholder meeting, the government would lay out the issues and the problems to be solved. If the participants were not willing to invest significant time and resources to resolve the problems in a collaborative fashion then co-management could not occur. Moving forward would entail determining the final participants, analysing the issues, defining the respective decision-making roles of government and private participants, determining information and capacity needs, and then developing strategies to manage the resource.²³²

But is it realistic for co-management to work in the EEZ? The social and ecological contexts of the EEZ do not lend themselves to co-management. Dietz et al note that community-based commons governance tend to be more effective when:

- Resources and use can be monitored;
- Rates of change (community, technology, economic conditions) are moderate;
- Communities have dense social networks;
- Outsiders can be excluded at relatively low cost; and
- Users support effective monitoring and rule enforcement.²³³

When applying these factors to the EEZ, it becomes apparent that co-management of this large, remote commons would face serious challenges.

Can the resources be monitored?

Use can be monitored, but monitoring the whole resource would be extremely difficult. Fishers have reporting requirements, those who mine and extract oil and gas are required to to self-monitor their activities, and people laying submarine cables

²³⁰ Fiordland (Te Moana o Atawhenua) Marine Management Act 2005, Part 3, Section 26

²³¹ Berkes (2006), p. 45

²³² Carlsson (2005), pp. 73-74.

²³³ Dietz (2003), p.1908

assess the linear stretch of where their cables will be laid. This monitoring of activities does not necessarily equate to having a sense of the health of the ecosystem as a whole. The EEZ is vast, many of the resources are mobile, and the resources are under hundreds of metres of water. There is still much to be learned about the ocean portion of our planet. Fortunately, there is a global wide effort to develop and implement a Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) to improve the world's capabilities to monitor and understand the oceans. Given the vast size of the EEZs, there will be limits to how comprehensive monitoring could be. Some level of uncertainty will exist for the foreseeable future.

Are the rates of change (community, technology, economic conditions) moderate?

The current rates of change are generally moderate. Community changes will probably continue to be moderate for the foreseeable future. Technologies are always advancing, and depending on what is uncovered the economic situation can change rapidly, as it would if fishery stocks collapsed or there was a major oil and gas discovery. The aquaculture boom in the early 2000s is a New Zealand example of a situation where the rate of change outstripped the governance structure's ability to handle that change. If the rates of change accelerate then co-management becomes less viable as a governance strategy because local communities can find it difficult to adapt.

Does the community have dense social networks?

There is no "community" in the EEZ in the local, traditional sense.²³⁴ Relevant stakeholders in the EEZ can certainly come together on a periodic basis, but their relationship will probably be limited to the EEZ. They do not have the physical proximity of a traditional community. This matters immensely. It is difficult to link social and ecological systems if the social part of the system is diffuse.

A "sense of place" or "place attachment" also affects community involvement. A relationship based on a resource 12 nautical miles or more out to sea is profoundly different than a shared "backyard." A sense of place will be stronger to a community-based resource than to the EEZ because this sense of place is developed through personal, group and cultural processes.²³⁵ A shared community resource supports economic interests in the community in a very direct way. People will have a much stronger sense of place in relation to the resources where they boat, swim, fish, and snorkel than in the remote resources of the EEZ.²³⁶ Place attachment may be particularly important in a co-management regime because a sense of place fosters social and political involvement in its preservation.²³⁷

²³⁴ Thomas Bender defined community thus: "A community involves a limited number of people in a somewhat restricted social space or network held together by shared understanding and a sense of obligation. Relationships are close, often intimate, and usually face to face. Individuals are bound together be affective or emotional ties rather than by a perception of individual self-interests. There is a 'we-ness' in a community; one is a member." Bender (1982), pp 7-8. See also, Fabricius (2007), p. 30 where it is acknowledged that the concept of community is "fraught with problems."

²³⁵ Vorkinn (2001), p. 252

²³⁶ See Vorkinn (2001), p. 252 who states that attachment to place "may vary according to scale and tangibility (for example, a specific geographical area vs. wilderness areas in general)."

²³⁷ Mesch (1998), p. 505

Even though EEZ stakeholders are not a traditional community, can they as a nontraditional community fulfill that component of a co-management regime? It has been suggested that today a community need not be locally-based, and that physical proximity is not as important as it used to be.²³⁸ The age of the internet is leading to virtual communities defined by shared interests where physical proximity is irrelevant. It is doubtful, however, whether a coherent EEZ community could be created and sustained because it would not be voluntary and it would not have all the key structural features of community.

Many virtual communities are voluntary communities that are based on personallychosen, shared interests. Voluntary communities have three defining conditions: "low barriers to entry, low barriers to exit, and interpersonal relations shaped by mutual adjustment rather than hierarchical authority or coercion."²³⁹ A virtual community based on governing an EEZ would not be likely to have representatives from all the relevant sectors eager to voluntarily join. They would join to protect their sectors' interests during the process, which could be seen as a form of coercion.

An EEZ virtual community would not have the key structural features of community, which are limited membership, shared norms, affective ties, and a sense of mutual obligation.²⁴⁰ It is conceivable that it could have limited membership, develop shared norms, and possibly have affective ties, but would probably not have a sense of mutual obligation. Mutual obligation requires that the members identify with each other to such an extent that they are willing to sacrifice on each other's behalf.²⁴¹

Can outsiders be excluded at relatively low cost?

Outsiders can be excluded at relatively low cost because the remoteness and difficulties in extracting EEZ resources provide a practical barrier. There are significant capital requirements for extracting resources from the EEZ. Individuals or businesses will not invest this capital unless they have government approval. This gives government the opportunity to act as gatekeeper and exclude other members from entering into the co-management group.

Do users support monitoring and enforcement?

EEZ users would not be opposed to monitoring and enforcement but whether they would actively engage is unclear. The users of EEZ resources are generally a sophisticated group. They are commercial fishers or large companies developing oil, gas and minerals, or laving submarine cables. Other than recreational boating and fishing, the use of EEZ resources by the average person is limited. Users understand that monitoring and enforcement are a necessary part of the regulatory regime. They want the regulations to be clear, fair, and consistent.

It is doubtful whether EEZ users would actually perform the task of monitoring and enforcement of each other. In many instances of community-based management of a common pool resource, the monitoring and enforcement is performed by or provided

²³⁸ Ibid. p. 517. See also, Wellman (2001), p. 2032

²³⁹ Galston (2000), p. 195

²⁴⁰ Ibid. p. 197 ²⁴¹ Id. p. 200

for by the users themselves. This type of community monitoring is likely to be too difficult in the EEZ context.

In sum, the factors that lend themselves to successful co-management regimes show some distinct deficiencies in the EEZ context. The rates of change are moderate right now and probably will be for a while. Outsiders are not a significant pressure and could be excluded. Monitoring and enforcement can be done but it will be reliant on a great deal of self-monitoring. The largest hurdle to co-management as a viable governance regime in the EEZ context is the lack of community. If a community does not exist for the government to partner with then co-management is probably not a realistic option.

Advantages

Comprehensive and integrated. A co-management regime focused on a place (as opposed to a single resource) is a comprehensive and integrated form of management. It integrates the government agencies, the different sectors, and the stakeholders to work together toward shared goals. This integration is realised because the focus is on the place as opposed to the various uses being managed separately. It links groups and organisations that otherwise would not be linked.²⁴²

Reduces conflicts. These regimes are by their nature cooperative because the stakeholders work together and the process takes all significant uses and non-uses into account. The integration of co-management regimes also allows for the sharing of information and creates a forum for ongoing dialogue.²⁴³ This provides the opportunity for issues to be addressed before they become full-blown conflicts.

Increases efficiency. Co-management shares the workload. Decision-making and actions do not all fall to government. This division of labor can increase efficiency because it enables specialisation tailored to the task.²⁴⁴

Improved informational exchange. The cross-sectoral nature of co-management regimes aids the exchange of information and resources.²⁴⁵ The parties in a comanagement regime bring specialised knowledge and strong relationships within their respective sectors to the table. Government agencies can provide technical, scientific and monetary resources. Each participant benefits from what the others bring to the table. Co-management can make the whole greater than the sum of the parts.

Enables tradeoffs. Co-management allows for tradeoffs between sectors, and between uses and nonuse values. They occur at the planning and strategic levels. This provides the opportunity for balance, and recognises the full suite of societal values.

Adaptable. A co-management regime is adaptable because it creates a process for integrated ongoing decision-making. This process allows for new information to be shared, discussed and acted upon.

²⁴² Carlsson (2005), p. 72

²⁴³ Ibid.

²⁴⁴ Ibid. p. 71.
²⁴⁵ Ibid. pp. 71-72

Inclusive process. Co-management is an inclusive process, far removed from a centralised command-and-control approach. Government and stakeholders agree on what to do together. This inclusive process builds buy-in from all the various stakeholders, which can foster high-level political support.

Reduces long-term costs. While co-management does involve a significant investment of time, effort and resources for start up, ongoing transaction costs should be reduced.²⁴⁶

Disadvantages

Consensus may not be reached. Assuming the significant hurdle of the potential lack of community (discussed above) could be overcome, co-management has its disadvantages. There is no guarantee of success. The stakeholders and government agencies could come together, invest a lot of time and effort in a multi-year process but no consensus would be reached. The issues may be difficult to resolve or there may be strong vested interests in the status quo.²⁴⁷ If just one significant sector withholds support then the whole effort may fail.

May avoid tough decisions. Consensus decision-making can avoid the tough decisions so the final agreement is the lowest common denominator among all the stakeholders. This means the thorniest but most-pressing problems are not addressed. Deferred problems can escalate into environmental crises, which is what co-management seeks to avoid.

Influential leaders required. Co-management is dependent on strong political leadership in the community.²⁴⁸ There must be strong leaders within the different sectors helping to shape the future and gain the buy-in from the members of their sectoral community.²⁴⁹ There must be community buy-in for co-management to work and it is the political entrepreneurs that broker that buy-in. Without these leaders from within the various sectors, co-management will likely fail.

Difficult to align expectations. Government and stakeholders may not share the same understanding of their respective roles. Governments may envision the stakeholders as an advisory body and not management partners. A lack of agreement concerning roles could result in damaging misunderstandings. If government tries to maintain the ultimate decision-making authority, the stakeholders may become disenfranchised or treat the government agencies as antagonists instead of partners.²⁵⁰ Co-management only works if the participants understand and agree as to their respective roles.

²⁴⁶ Carlsson (2005), p. 72

²⁴⁷ Beem (2007), p. 541

²⁴⁸ Olsson (2004), p.83

²⁴⁹ Beem (2007), p. 545

²⁵⁰ Ibid. p. 547

4 CONCLUSION

Governing the marine environment is complicated. The social and political aspects are complex, and the biophysical environment is not completely understood. Respecting both aspects of social-ecological systems is difficult. And there are numerous strategies to choose from to address the governance strategies. It is imperative, however, to try.

Considering the number of possible strategies and the complexities of governance, both New Zealand and the United States must become comfortable with the idea of environmental management as experiment.²⁵¹ We need to move past our history of environmental laws being one size fits all. Governments will have to try different strategies in different contexts. Communities will have to engage. We need to expect less than ideal results. As long as we learn from our mistakes and seek to correct them, trying a strategy and failing should be acceptable.

Given the complexities of managing social-ecological systems, it will not be one strategy that achieves success, but a number of different strategies working together. There are no panaceas. The strategies discussed in this report are not mutually exclusive, and a mix of some of them will likely be the most effective in improving governance of the marine commons over the long-term.

That said, it is advisable that EEZ governance in the future should have a strong spatial component, such as marine spatial planning or ocean zoning without property interests. A spatial component to governance does not obviate the need for regulation of activities, but it can help to allocate space in a rational way so all societal needs and values can be taken into account.

Where feasible the co-management strategy provides the best opportunity for governing social-ecological systems. To have integrated governance of social-ecological systems, the people using and wanting to conserve the resources must be involved in the decision-making. Co-management is democracy in action in the environmental context.

Co-management, however, cannot be forced. It is a strategy based on collaboration and mutual obligation. Government can convene the process but if the participants are unwilling then co-management will probably fail. Given the lack of a local community, it is doubtful co-management could work in the EEZ.

Implementing any of the strategies discussed in this report will not be easy, but the attempt must be made because the oceans are under threat. New Zealand is trying to improve management of the EEZ by proposing new legislation to regulate environmental effects and address cumulative effects. It is a good start. Improving governance will not be easy, but strategies do exist to move forward.

²⁵¹ Holling (2001), p. 393. See also, Ludwig (1993), p. 36

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Agrawal, A. (2001), 'Common property institutions and sustainable governance of resources', *World Development*, 29(10):1649-1672

Annual Report 2006/07 (September 2007), Wellington: Ministry of Fisheries

Armitage, D. (2008), 'Governance and the commons in a multi-level world', *International Journal of the Commons*, 2(1):7-32

Beem, B. (2007), 'Co-management from the top? The roles of policy entrepreneurs and distributive conflict in developing co-management arrangements', *Marine Policy*, 31(2007): 540-549

Bender, T. (1982), *Community and Social Change in America*, Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press

Berkes, F. (2006), 'From community-based resource management to complex systems: the scale issue and marine commons', *Ecology and Society*, 11(1):45

Berkes, F. and C. Folke (eds) (1998), *Linking Social and Ecological Systems: Management Practices and Social Mechanisms for Building Resilience*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Bess, R. (2001), 'New Zealand's indigenous people and their claims to fisheries resources', *Marine Policy*, 25(1): 23-32

Carlsson, L. and A. Sandstrom (2008), 'Network governance of the commons', *International Journal of the Commons*, 2(1):33-54

Carlsson, L. and F. Berkes (2005), 'Co-management: concepts and methodological implications', *Journal of Environmental Management*, 75:65-76

Cash, D.W. and others (2006), 'Scale and cross-scale dynamics: governance and information in a multilevel world', *Ecology and Society*, 11(2):8

Centre for Advanced Engineering (2003), *Economic Opportunities in New Zealand's Oceans; An analysis of the opportunities and enabling technologies, and optimal policy framework for their realisation*, Prepared for the Oceans Policy Secretariat

Cicin-Sain, B. and R. Knecht (2000), *The Future of US Ocean Policy: Choices for the New Century*, Washington, DC, Island Press

Citizen's Guide to the NEPA: Having Your Voice Heard (2007), Washington: Council on Environmental Quality

Considering Cumulative Effects under the National Environmental Policy Act (1997), Washington: Council on Environmental Quality

Cooper, L. and W. Sheate (2002), 'Cumulative effects assessment: a review of UK environmental impact statements', *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 22(2002): 415-439

Costanza, R. and others (1998), 'Principles for sustainable governance of the oceans', *Science*, 281:198-199

Crowder, L. and others (2006), 'Resolving mismatches in U.S. ocean governance', *Science*, 313:617-618

Day, J. (2002), 'Zoning—lessons from the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park', *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 45(2002): 139-156

Dietz, T., E. Ostrom, and P. Stern (2003), 'The struggle to govern the commons', *Science*, 302:1907-1912

Douvere, F. and others (2007), 'The role of marine spatial planning in sea use management: The Belgian case', *Marine Policy*, 2007:182-191

Eagle, J. and J. Sanchirico (2008), 'Ocean zoning and spatial access privilege: rewriting the tragedy of the regulated ocean', *New York University Law Review (in press)*

Ehler, C. and F. Douvere (2007), Visions for a Sea Change: Report of the First International Workshop on Marine Spatial Planning, Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission and Man and the Biosphere Programme, IOC Manual and Guides 46, ICAM Dossier 3, Paris: UNESCO

Enfocus, Ltd. (2003), Oceans Management at the Local Level: Research Report for the Oceans Policy Secretariat, Prepared for Ministry for the Environment by Gerard Willis

Enfocus Ltd. (2002), *Oceans Policy Stocktake: Part 1 – Legislation and Policy Review*, Prepared for the Oceans Policy Secretariat by G. Willis, J. Gunn, and D. Hill

Fabricius, C. and others (2007), 'Powerless spectators, coping actors, and adaptive comanagers: a synthesis of the role of communities in ecosystem management', *Ecology and Society*, 12(1): 29

Fernandes, L. and others (2005), 'Establishing representative no-take areas in the Great Barrier Reef: large scale implementation of theory on marine protected areas' *Conservation Biology*, 19(6): 1733-1744

Galaz, V. and others (2006), 'The problem of fit between ecosystems and governance systems: insights and emerging challenges', *IDGEC Synthesis Conference*,. Retrieved 27 February 2008 from: http://fiesta.bren.ucsb.edu/~idgec/responses/Victor%20 Galaz%20et%20al%20-%20Fit.pdf

Galdorisi, G.V. and K.R. Vienna (1997), *Beyond the Law of the Sea: New Directions for U.S. Oceans Policy*, Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers

Galston, W. (2000), 'Does the internet strengthen community?', *National Civic Review*, 89(3):193-202

Getting Our Priorities Right: The Role of Information in Setting Priorities for Management of New Zealand's Ocean (2005), Wellington: Ministry for the Environment

Grafton, R.Q. (2000), 'Governance of the commons: a role for the state?' *Land Economics*, 76(4):504-517

Guardians of Fiordland's Fisheries & Marine Environment Inc. (2003): *Fiordland Marine Conservation Strategy: Te Kaupapa Atawhai o Te Moana o Atawhenua*

Guerin, K. (2003), *Property Rights and Environmental Policy: A New Zealand Perspective*, Working Paper 03/02, Wellington: New Zealand Treasury

Halpern, B. and others (2008), 'A global map of human impact on marine ecosystems', *Science*, 319:948-952.

Halpern, B. and others (2007), 'Managing for cumulative impacts in ecosystem-based management through ocean zoning', *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 1-9 (*In press*)

Hanna, S. and S. Jentoft (1996), 'Human Uses of the Natural Environment: An overview of social and economic dimensions', *Rights to Nature: Ecological, Economic Cultural, and Political Principles of Institutions for the Environment,* Washington, DC: Island Press.

Hardin, G. (1968), 'Tragedy of the commons', Science, 162:1243-1248

Hegmann, G. and others (1999), 'Cumulative Effects Assessment Practitioner's Guide,' Prepared by AXYS Environmental Consulting Ltd. and the CEA Working Group for the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency, Hull, Quebec

Hixon, M. and others (2001), 'Oceans at risk: research priorities in marine conservation biology', *Conservation Biology: Research Priorities for the Next Decade*, Washington DC: Island Press

Holling, C.S. (2001), 'Understanding the complexity of economic, ecological and social systems', *Ecosystems*, 4:390-405

Improving Regulation of Environmental Effects in New Zealand's Exclusive Economic Zone (2007), Wellington: Ministry for the Environment

Juda, L. and T. Hennessey (2001), 'Governance profiles and the management of the uses of large marine ecosystems', *Ocean Development & International Law*, 32(1): 43-69

Leich, M.N. (1983), 'Contemporary practice of the United States relating to international law', *The American Journal of International Law*, 77(1):616-623

Liu, J. and others (2007), 'Complexity of coupled human and natural systems', *Science*, 317:1513-1516.

Lock, K. and S. Leslie (2007), 'New Zealand's Quota Management System: A History of the First Twenty Years', Motu Working Paper 07-02, Wellington: Motu Economic and Public Policy Research and Ministry of Fisheries

Ludwig, D. and others (1993), 'Uncertainty, resource exploitation, and conservation: lessons from history', *Science*, 260:17-36

Mansfield, B. (2004), 'Neoliberalism in the oceans: "rationalization," property rights, and the commons question', *Geoforum* 35(2004):313-326

Marine Protected Areas: Draft Classification and Protection Standard (2007), Wellington: Ministry of Fisheries and Department of Conservation

Marine Protected Areas: Policy and Implementation Plan (December 2005), Wellington, Ministry of Fisheries and Department of Conservation

McDormand, T. and others (2005), *International Law: Materials and Commentaries*, Durham, NC: Carolina Academic Press

Mesch, G. and O. Manor (1998), 'Social ties, environmental perception, and local attachment', *Environment and Behavior*, 30(4):504-19

Milne, P. and S. Grierson (2008) 'When is Enough, Enough? Dealing with Cumulative Effects under the Resource Management Act'. Retrieved 3 April 2008 from: http://www.qualityplanning.org.nz/pubs/Dealing-with-cumulative-effect-underthe-RMA.pdf

The New Zealand Marine Environment Classification (June 2005), Wellington: National Institute of Water & Atmospheric Research, Prepared for Ministry for the Environment

The National Environmental Policy Act: A Study of its Effectiveness after Twenty-five Years (January 1997), Washington: Council on Environmental Quality

Norse, E. (2005), 'Ending the range wars on the last frontier', *Marine Conservation Biology: The Science of Maintaining the Sea's Biodiversity*, Washington DC: Island Press

Oceans Policy Secretariat (2003), 'Working Paper Summary: Issues with the current oceans management system', Wellington

Oceans Policy Secretariat (2001), *Healthy Sea: Healthy Society: Towards an Oceans Policy for New Zealand*, Report on consultation undertaken by the Ministerial Advisory Committee on Oceans Policy, Wellington

Offshore Options: Managing Environmental Effects in New Zealand's Exclusive Economic Zone (2005), Wellington: Ministry for the Environment

Olsson, P., C. Folke, and F. Berkes (2004), 'Adaptive comanagement for building resilience in social-ecological systems' *Environmental Management*, 34(1):75-90

Osherenko, G. (2006), 'New discourses on ocean governance: understanding property rights and the public trust', *Journal of Environmental Law and Litigation*, 21:317

Ostrom, E. (2007), 'A diagnostic approach for going beyond panaceas', *PNAS*, 104(39):15181-15187

Ostrom, E. and others (1999), 'Revisiting the commons: local lessons, global challenges' *Science*, 284:278-282

Ostrom, E. (1990), *Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action*, Cambridge, New York: Cambridge University Press

Paavola, J. (2007), 'Institutions and environmental governance: a reconceptualization', *Ecological Economics*, 63:93-103

Peart, Raewyn (2005), *Looking Out to Sea: New Zealand as a model for ocean governance*, Auckland: Environmental Defense Society Incorporated

Pew Oceans Commission (2003), America's Living Oceans: Charting a Course for Sea Change, Final Report

Pew Oceans Commission Summary Report (2003), Pew Oceans Commission

Plummer, R. and J. Fitzgibbon (2004), 'Co-management of natural resources: a proposed framework', *Environmental Management*, 33(6):876-885

Reeves, J.S. (1917), 'Two conceptions of the freedom of the seas', *The American Historical Review*, 22(3):535-543

Report from the International Workshop on Community-based Natural Resource Management (CBNRM), Washington DC, 10-14 May 1998 (1999), Washington: World Bank

Schlager, E., W. Blomquist, and S.Y. Tan (1994), 'Mobile flows, storage, and selforganized institutions for governing common-pool resources', *Land Economics*, 70(3):294-317

Schlager, E. and E. Ostrom (1992), 'Property-rights regimes and natural resources: a conceptual analysis", *Land Economics*, 68(3):249-62

Setting the Course for a Sustainable Future; The Management of New Zealand's Marine Environment (1999), Wellington: Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment

Smith, Adam (1991 edn.), *The Wealth of Nations*, London: Publishers Ltd., Everyman's Library, 1910, originally published in 1776.

Stavins, R. (1998), 'Market-Based Environmental Policies', Discussion Paper 98-26, Washington DC: Resources for the Future

Study on the Assessment of Indirect and Cumulative Impacts as Well as Impact Interactions (1999), Cardiff: Hyder for European Commission on Environment, Nuclear Safety & Civil Protection

Summary of Submissions on Improving Regulation of Environmental Effects in New Zealand's Exclusive Economic Zone (2007), Wellington: Ministry for the Environment

Te Puni Kokiri (Ministry of Maori Development) (2002), *He Tirohanga ō Kawa ki te Tiriti o Waitangi*, Wellington

Therivel, R. and B. Ross (2007), 'Cumulative effects assessment: does scale matter?', *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 27(2007): 365-385

Tientienberg, T. (2002), "The tradable permits approach to protecting the commons: what have we learned?', *The Drama of the Commons*, Washington, DC: National Academy Press

Tyldesley, D. (2004), *Coastal and Marine Spatial Planning Framework for the Irish Sea Pilot Project*, United Kingdom: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea III (UNCLOS). Retrieved 31 March 2008 from: http://www.un.org/Depts/los/

US Commission on Ocean Policy (2004), *An Ocean Blueprint for the 21st Century*, Final Report, Washington, DC.

Vorkinn, M. and H. Riese (2001), Environmental Concern in a Local Context: the significance of place attachment', *Environment and Behavior*, 33(2):249-263

Weible, C., P. Sabatier, and M. Lubell (2004), 'A comparison of a collaborative and top-down approach to the use of science in policy: establishing marine protected areas in California', *Policy Studies Journal*, 32(2): 187-207

Wellman, B. (2001), 'Computer Networks as Social Networks', Science, 293:2031-34

Yandle, T. (2007), 'Understanding the consequences of property rights mismatches: a case study of New Zealand's marine resources', *Ecology and Society* 12(2): 27-44

Young, O. and others (2007), 'Solving the crisis in ocean governance: place-based management of marine ecosystems', *Environment*, 49(4):20-32

Ziskind, J. (1973), 'International law and ancient sources: Grotius and Selden'', *The Review of Politics*, 35(4):537-559

Zoning in the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park (2007), Townsville: Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority. Retrieved 15 May 2008 from: http://www.gbrmpa.gov.au/ _data/assets/pdf_file/0006/19950/ce1207_zoning_q_a.pdf